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BULGARIAN AIR TRAFFIC SERVICES AUTHORITY

DIRECTOR GENERAL’S STATEMENT

DEAR READERS,

I am pleased to present to your attention the latest edition of the Annual Report of the 
Bulgarian Air Traffic Services Authority (BULATSA) for the year 2011.

For more than forty years BULATSA has provided high quality air navigation services, 
while maintaining the highest safety levels and reducing the environmental impact of 
the aviation industry, and observing the requirements of the European Commission 
as a benchmark. 

By virtue of the high professionalism of its employees, in 2011 BULATSA was successfully 
fulfilling its mission to provide air navigation services of the highest quality in line with 
the international standards of the aviation sector.

Over the last few years the organization has pursued its strategic objectives and despite the global economic and financial crisis it 
has increased its market share in ANS provision in the region, simultaneously asserting its key role in the provision of air navigation 
services in South-Eastern Europe.

In the framework of customer relations management, in 2011 BULATSA organised and conducted a number of meetings with 
airspace users, presenting its customer-oriented policy. The main focus was on the efficiency and safety of the service, on the flexible 
use of airspace and the maintenance of a level of services corresponding to customer needs. Such consultations demonstrated the 
aspiration of BULATSA to develop a partnership with airspace users based on mutual trust, understanding and support for their 
activities.

A key aspect of the international activity of BULATSA in 2011 was the activation of regional cooperation in the field of ANS provision.  
Thus a bilateral agreement on operational and technical cooperation with SMATSA – the ANSP of Serbia and Montenegro, and an 
agreement on the joint use of radar data were signed. Also, I am pleased to note the positive developments in BULATSA’s relations 
with the highly esteemed airspace users of the Middle East.

In 2011 the project for the establishment of a Functional Airspace Block in the airspace of the Republic of Bulgaria and in the airspace 
of Romania (DUNUBE FAB) was a key project in the activity of the organization. For the duration of two months large-scale real time 
simulations (RTS) of the future DANUBE FAB airspace were conducted at the EUROCONTROL Experimental Centre in Bretigny, France, 
at the end of 2011. The interstate Agreement on the establishment of the DANUBE Functional Airspace Block was signed on 12 
December 2011 at a formal ceremony held during the EU Transport, Telecommunications and Energy Council in Brussels, Belgium.

Vigorous work on another key project for BULATSA – the construction of the new Sofia Airport Control Tower – continued in 2011 as 
well. The technical, functional and quantitative requirements to the equipment and the technical systems were specified in detail, 
and the building site was inaugurated on 2 December 2011.

Over the past twelve months continued the execution of the updated Plan for the development of the automated ATM SATCAS 
System. A link was established between the data of the SATCAS System and the newly operational FAM (Flight Activation Monitoring) 
System which provides information about the activation time of each controlled flight. New sectors were configured in the SATCAS 
System in 2011, enabling an optimal sector configuration and providing increased airspace capacity.
In this Report a series of economic data can be traced outlining the positive trends in the development of BULATSA during the 
past year. The attainment of the strategic objectives and the key indicators set characterize BULATSA as a socially responsible and 
successfully developing organization, both on the international and on the internal level.
In conclusion I would like to extend my appreciation to all BULATSA employees who, though their professionalism, contributed to the 
achievement of an increased efficiency in the provision of air navigation services and to continuing as a competitive organization, 
successfully meeting the challenges of the new realities and maintaining its leadership position in the ANS system of South-Eastern 
Europe.

Diyan Dinev
BULATSA Director General 
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BULATSA ANNUAL ACTIVITY REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR 2011

I.  MISSION, VISION AND STRATEGIC GOALS of BULATSA
Mission – Provision of quality air navigation services (ANS) for reliable and efficient management of ANS, while 
maintaining the highest levels of safety and mitigating the environmental impact.

Vision – Maintaining the status of BULATSA as a competitive enterprise which copes successfully with the challenges 
of the new realities and is viable in the ANS provision business. Maintaining a leading position in the ANS system of 
South-Eastern Europe.

Strategic Goals of BULATSA in the Period 2011 – 2015
•	 Increasing BULATSA’s market share in ANS on a regional scale.
•	 Consolidation of BULATSA’s key role in the provision of ANS in South-Eastern Europe.

II. BULATSA FUNCTIONS AND MANAGEMENT
The Bulgarian State Enterprise “Air Traffic Services Authority” (BULATSA) is a legal entity which holds a certificate for the 
provision of air navigation services and fulfils State functions for the provision of ANS in the controlled civil airspace of 
the Republic of Bulgaria. BULATSA’s main spheres of activity include:

1. Air traffic management aimed at achieving safety, efficiency and regularity of flights in the controlled civil airspace; 
2. Planning, provision, implementation, operation and maintenance of facilities, systems and equipment to ensure 

the communications, navigation, surveillance, power-supply, lighting, meteorological and aeronautical aspects of the 
serviced air traffic and its supporting infrastructure;

3. Provision of communications, navigation and surveillance services; 
4. Provision of meteorological services; 
5. Provision of aeronautical information services;
6. Provision of metrological services;
7. Provision of information services for aircraft search and rescue operations;
8. Management of the air traffic safety system within its assigned powers;
9. Fulfilment of the obligations of the Republic of Bulgaria ensuing from international agreements in the ATM area, 

to which the Republic of Bulgaria is a signatory state;
10. Collection of air navigation charges for the provision of air navigation services.

In 2011 the operational management of BULATSA was based on a system of management through objectives, by 
defining, reporting and supervising the activities accomplished by the separate territorially and/or functionally 

separated units of the enterprise.
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 III. KEY EVENTS AND PRIORITIES IN 2011

1. Extension and Upgrade of the SATCAS System

The execution of the updated Plan for the development of the automated ATM SATCAS System continued in 2011. An 
alignment of the hardware configuration of the main and the back-up systems was performed. Additional work stations 
were installed in Burgas and Varna to meet the needs of technical personnel. New software was installed in Sofia, Burgas 
and Varna as necessitated by the additional work stations and the new transition altitude for Sofia Airport.

In line with the updated Plan for the development of the automated ATM SATCAS System, technical documentation was 
prepared containing operational and technical requirements and a contract for the upgrade of the SATCAS System was 
concluded comprising 5 work packages.

Work Package 1 is an upgrade of the SATCAS System to work with the central EUROCONTROL SSR code assignment 
server (CCAMS Programme), which assigns a unique secondary code to the aircraft’s transponder. Duplication of codes 
is prevented in this way.

Work Package 2 is an upgrade of the SATCAS System enabling the exchange of data with the systems in neighbouring 
countries by means of the new OLDI FMTP protocol (FMTP-TPC/IP-v4/v6) which is a requirement of Regulation (EC) No. 
633/2007. The FMTP will provide improved and extended capabilities for data exchange between civil and between civil 
and military ATC systems. 
 
Work Package 3 will add new capabilities to the SATCAS System enabling it to operate in Mode S (Mode S Implementation). 
This will allow the extraction of accurate data related to various parameters of the flight and their visualization at ATCO 
working positions, thus improving safety and increasing airspace capacity. 

Work Package 4 will enable the SATCAS System to operate with the new ICAO 2012-FPL format (FPL 2012). This new 
flight plan format allows exchange of additional information to be provided to the ATCO about the aircraft’s technical 
equipment, such as ADS-B, CPDLC, as well as performance based navigation (RNAV, RNP, etc.).

Work Package 5 envisages the alignment of the data in the fall-back system and the operational system, i.e. SATCAS 
LINUX and SATCAS UNIX. This will enable the automatic alignment of all available flight information in the two systems 
without any human interference. Safety will be improved as a result.

All the relevant documentation under Contract Work Packages 1 through 5 was verified in 2011. The implementation 
time schedule was approved, the parameters of the exchanged messages by the system were clarified in collaboration 
with SELEX and EUROCONTROL representatives. Pre-SAT testing was conducted of Work Packages 1 and 5.

The upgrade of the SATCAS System through these new five Work Packages will be completed in 2012.

In 2011 a link was established between the data of the SATCAS System and the newly operational FAM (Flight Activation 
Monitoring) System which provides information about the activation time of controlled flights.

New sectors were configured in the System in 2011 to achieve an optimal sector configuration and increased airspace 
capacity. 

The regular updating of data in the static data bases of the SATCAS System in line with the AIRRAC cycle continued in 
2011.

2. Development of the Initiative for the Establishment of a Functional Airspace Block (FAB) – DANUBE FAB. The 
European Commission’s Single European Sky Initiative.

2.1.  The DANUBE FAB Project
   
In 2011 the Project for the establishment of a Functional Airspace Block in the airspace 
of the Republic of Bulgaria and in the airspace of Romania (DUNUBE FAB) was a 
key project in the activity of the enterprise. The project activities are being 
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carried out in accordance with the time frame stipulated in European legislation and Decision С (2009) 6822 of the 
European Commission dated 11 September 2009 granting Community financial aid to projects of common interest, 
thus allocating financial support to Phase 1 (Stage 2), Phase 2 and Phase 3 of the DUNUBE FAB Project – 2008-EU-
40001-S under the TEN-T programme.

In 2011 BULATSA experts took an active part in the development, finalization and coordination of the draft Interstate 
Agreement on the Establishment of the DUNUBE Functional Airspace Block. The signature ceremony took place on 12 
December 2011 at the European Union (EU) Council’s premises as part of the EU. 

Transport, Telecommunications and Energy Council (TTE Council) meeting. 

A public procurement was organized for the provision of project management services for the DANUBE FAB Project and in 
June 2011 a contract was signed with Helios Technology Ltd. for project management services. 

Three DANUBE FAB Steering Committee meetings were held during the reporting period: on 23-24 February 2011 in Poiana 
Brasov, Romania; on 1 July 2011 in Burgas, Bulgaria; and on 10-13 October 2011 in Sighisoara, Romania. A number of meetings 
were held as well at project management level and work group level.

At a Single Sky Committee meeting in September 2011 the DANUBE FAB Project was officially presented to the European 
Commission and the EU Member States.

A number of activities were performed to progress the execution of the trilateral Agreement between BULATSA and ROMATSA, 
on the one hand, and EUROCONTROL, on the other, for the provision of support by the Agency to the DANUBE FAB Project.

In the framework of the above Agreement real time simulations (RTS) of the future DANUBE FAB airspace were conducted in 
November 2011 and a Visitor’s Day was organized to present the scope, objectives and intermediate results of the real time 
simulations to European institutions, neighbouring countries and stakeholders.

In 2011 the Technical Work Group provided management and planning of the aeronautical frequency spectrum and 
maintenance of the database of ICAO COM 2, COM 3 and COM 4 Tables. 

In order to obtain the feedback of stakeholders and promote a high level of awareness, a meeting of the DANUBE FAB Social 
Forum was organized on 10-11 October 2011 in Sighisoara, Romania, with the participation of representatives of both ANSPs 
and all trade union and professional organizations in ROMATSA and BULATSA.

Within the Project’s framework in 2011 an open public procurement procedure was launched for the preparation of a business 
case and a cost benefit analysis.

For the purpose of Decision С (2009) 6822 granting Community financial aid to projects of common interest – “DUNUBE 
FAB Project Phase 1 (Stage 2), Phase 2 and Phase 3 – 2008-EU-40001-S under the TEN-T programme”, in parallel with 

the execution of routine project management activities the representatives of BULATSA had to prepare 
three-monthly reports to the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications 

pertaining to Phase 2 of the Project. 
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2.2. The European Commission’s Single European Sky Initiative 

For the purpose of supporting the Member States in the fulfillment of their duties ensuing from the actions provided 
for in the SES I and SES II legislative packages, the European Commission, Council and Parliament adopted a number of 
new regulations and amendments to the existing ones.

3. Project for the construction of a new Sofia Airport Control Tower (TWR) with the adjacent infrastructure 

Participation in the project for the construction of the new Sofia Airport Control Tower with the adjacent infrastructure 
continued in 2011. Technical, functional and quantitative requirements to equipment and technical systems were 
specified in detail. An open public procurement procedure for the selection of a contractor was conducted and a contract 
(Contract No. 297/19.08.2011) was signed with Glavbolgarstroy AD. The building site was inaugurated on 2 September 
2011 and the steel and concrete construction of the “tall” main structure reached a height of 31.4 m by the year’s end. 
In parallel with the construction of the main building, the construction of the power supply and communications route 
began through Terminal 2 of Sofia Airport. On the basis of the technical investment project, the Contractor prepared 
a working project and submitted it for the approval of BULATSA. The construction is proceeding within the planned 
timeframe and according to the Contract it should be completed by the end of May 2012. 

Representatives of BULATSA took an active part in the discussion and coordination of construction work programmes 
and exercised control on timely works and the quality of the materials.    

4. Social Dialogue 

The main focus of BULATSA’s social policies in 2010 was on the active dialogue with the social partners on all issues 
related to the improvement of work conditions in the enterprise and the realization of the organisation’s strategic 
goals which have an impact on human resources.

Each year BULATSA allocates considerable funds to the provision of a wide range of social activities oriented to the 
good health and recreation of employees and their families.

As an expression of the Employer’s social responsibility, in line with the provisions of the Collective Labour Agreement 
(CLA) and in fulfillment of the decisions made by the Meeting of Employees’ Representa tives, 2011 marked the 
provision of significant additional employee benefits, such as additional voluntary pension insurance, life 
insurance, social benefits, maintenance of social recreational facilities and BULATSA’s own housing, 
prophylactic medical check-ups, etc.

The major projects implemented in the field of social policies in 2011 were di-
rected to corrective actions aimed at mitigating the existing risks in accor-
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dance with the risk assessment of working positions, to maintaining the certification awarded to the Occupational 
Health and Safety Management System (OHSMS) in accordance with the requirements of the OHSAS 18001:2007 
standard, and to the preparation of a public procurement for the conclusion of a Life Insurance Agreement.   

5. Identification of Additional Possibilities for Improving the Efficiency of BULATSA’s Activities

BULATSA can report a stable trend towards improving the efficiency of ANS provision. The enterprise has outlined a set 
of measures aimed at the identification of additional possibilities for optimisation of ANS costs and for improving the 
efficiency of operations in the short and long term. In order to implement these measures, the necessary cooperation of 
the Bulgarian CAA and the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications is actively being sought.

For the past few years, BULATSA has been successful in maintaining a relatively constant level of general ANS costs, 
notwithstanding the increase in prices of goods and services in this country. This, in combination with the intensive 
traffic growth and the gradual decrease in the numbers of the personnel has led to an increase in the efficiency of 
operations.

One of the basic objectives in BULATSA’s Business Plan is the achievement of a value lower than €400 for a composite 
controlled hour and the containment of the en-route cost base below €40 over the next three years. More information 
regarding efficiency improvements is to be found in the reports of the EUROCONTROL Performance Review Commission 
(PRC). The enhancement of efficiency is a continuous process which will continue in the years to come in accordance 
with the targets set out in the National Performance Plan of the Republic of Bulgaria in compliance with Regulation (EU) 
No. 691/2010 of 29 July 2010 laying down a performance scheme for air navigation services and network functions.

IV. ACTIVITIES RELATING TO THE PROCESS OF CUSTOMER RELATIONS MANAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATIONS WITH USERS OF THE SERVICES
 

In the framework of customer relations management BULATSA organised and conducted a number of events in 
accordance with the approved annual plan. The traditional consultation meeting dedicated to ANS provision at Burgas 
and Varna airports during the active tourist season was held in May 2011.

On 5 May 2011 BULATSA, together with Bulgarian CAA, Romanian CAA and ROMATSA, participated in a meeting with 
airspace users in the framework of the consultation process of the National Performance Plan of the Republic of Bulgaria. 
Various topics were discussed with representatives of IATA and the airlines and their comments were incorporated in 
the subsequent versions of the National Performance Plan.

In the beginning of December 2011 the traditional meeting was held addressing the operational situation at Sofia 
Airport. During the meeting were discussed operational issues related to the autumn/winter season and the specialized 
activities required such as pre-flight aircraft de-icing, the handing-over of lighting systems to Sofia Airport, the findings 
of the analysis performed on the responses in the questionnaires measuring customer satisfaction with the AIS service 
in 2011, the forthcoming provision of meteorological information by VOL MET, etc.

Under “Customer Satisfaction” the official web-page of BULATSA features summaries of meetings between BULATSA 
and airspace users and the annual reports on customer relations management.     

 V. BULATSA INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITY

In 2011 BULATSA continued its activity as an active member and partner of the international organisations in the field 
of civil aviation: ICAO, EUROCONTROL, CANSO and relevant EC structures. BULATSA’s international activity in 2011 

was characterized by intensive and active participation of the management team and representatives of the 
organisation in the sessions of EUROCONTROL’s Provisional Council and Permanent Commission, in 

meetings of CANSO’s governing bodies (EC3 and the AGM and CEO Conference), as well as in 
forums held by the European Commission.
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The main focus of international activity in 2011 was on the activation of regional cooperation in the field of ANS 
provision:  the signature of a bilateral agreement on operational and technical cooperation with SMATSA – the ANSP of 
Serbia and Montenegro, and of an agreement on the joint use of radar data, participation in a regional meeting on ATM 
cooperation in November 2011 in Bucharest, participation in a meeting of the Ministers of Transport of the Republic of 
Bulgaria and the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (FYROM).

VI.  OPERATIONS

In 2011, a total number of 567,496 flights were controlled, which is an increase of 8.68% over 2010 numbers. Compared 
to the previous year the overall number of overflights in 2011 increased by 8.86%, reaching 470,219. There were 97,277 
arrivals and departures on the territory of Bulgarian airports, which is an increase of 7.85% over 2010. Such an increase 
is indicative of the lessening effect of the world financial and economic crisis and its effect on the aviation market. In 
addition, during the last quarter of 2011 an increase of controlled flights was registered which was the result of the 
constraints introduced in Greek airspace due to strike activity.  On the whole, the total number of controlled flights 
follows a rising trend, with a growth at a higher rate than in previous years. In 2012 it is expected that the rising trend in 
the number of controlled flights will be discontinued.

No ATM delays related to air traffic flow management (ATFM) constraints were registered in 2011. This is to be attributed 
to the good organization and the continuous improvement of working arrangements, which finds an  expression in ATS 
norms and procedures.

In September 2011 BULATSA registered delays related to ATFM  constraints which were due to the industrial action 
(strikes) in Greece. The situation went back to normal following the end of the trade union actions.
Timely updates were made in 2011 of the ATS Manuals, Part 1 and 2, for the various ACC/ATS Centres/Units 
and support was rendered in the preparation of LoAs, including agreements between ATS units and 
airport operators. Methodological instructions were prepared for air traffic controllers from 
ACC/ATS Centres/Units.
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Bulgaria and the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (FYROM).

VI.  OPERATIONS

In 2011, a total number of 567,496 flights were controlled, which is an increase of 8.68% over 2010 numbers. Compared 
to the previous year the overall number of overflights in 2011 increased by 8.86%, reaching 470,219. There were 97,277 
arrivals and departures on the territory of Bulgarian airports, which is an increase of 7.85% over 2010. Such an increase 
is indicative of the lessening effect of the world financial and economic crisis and its effect on the aviation market. In 
addition, during the last quarter of 2011 an increase of controlled flights was registered which was the result of the 
constraints introduced in Greek airspace due to strike activity.  On the whole, the total number of controlled flights 
follows a rising trend, with a growth at a higher rate than in previous years. In 2012 it is expected that the rising trend in 
the number of controlled flights will be discontinued.

No ATM delays related to air traffic flow management (ATFM) constraints were registered in 2011. This is to be attributed 
to the good organization and the continuous improvement of working arrangements, which finds an  expression in ATS 
norms and procedures.

In September 2011 BULATSA registered delays related to ATFM  constraints which were due to the industrial action 
(strikes) in Greece. The situation went back to normal following the end of the trade union actions.
Timely updates were made in 2011 of the ATS Manuals, Part 1 and 2, for the various ACC/ATS Centres/Units 
and support was rendered in the preparation of LoAs, including agreements between ATS units and 
airport operators. Methodological instructions were prepared for air traffic controllers from 
ACC/ATS Centres/Units.
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Proposals were prepared for amendments to the route network in line with the decisions of RNDSG and RDGE and the 
relevant modifications were published in the AIP of the Republic of Bulgaria.

Draft amendments to the legal framework regulating the flexible use of airspace (FUA) were elaborated in collaboration 
with representatives of the Bulgarian Air Force Headquarters.
  
For the purpose of improving the provision of ANS to VFR flights, proposals were prepared for VFR routes in Varna and 
Burgas CTR. Approach procedures as well as VOR DME second aerodrome circle procedures were developed for Gorna 
Oriyahovitsa airport. 

A concept was developed for the transmission of flight plans by means of the Internet and the respective preliminary 
software version was updated and is presently being tested.
 A plan was elaborated listing the activities and the actions for the preparation of the documentation required for the 
establishment of a unified transitional altitude in the controlled Bulgarian airspace, planned to come into effect in 2012. 

1. Development and Licensing of Air Traffic Controllers (ATCOs)

Being aware of the key role of its operational personnel BULATSA maintains a database and stores data on the 
qualifications of its employees holding ATCO, SATCL, CATM and FDA certificates. The implementation of a single 
database to manage information relating to holders of ATCO, SATCL, CATM and FDA certificates is planned for 2012. 
It will contribute to operational interoperability between various units and departments, reducing the coordination 
required in working arrangements. Furthermore, on the basis of the information collected in 2011, an improvement in 
efficiency will be achieved.

Activities relating to the provision of ATS units with the required number of ATCOs continued in 2011. For this purpose 4 
internal and 2 external selection competitions were conducted. On the basis of the external competitions were selected 
33 ATCO applicants for the ACC/ATS Centres in Sofia, Varna, Burgas and Gorna Oryahovitsa. 

The training process continued throughout 2011. Thus a number of courses were conducted for the purpose of 
improving controller’s qualifications: On-the-Job Training Instructor (OJTI) courses, a refresher course for ATCO Training 
Instructors (OJTI-REF), a Team Resources Management (TRM) course for ATCO moderators as well as TRM-Awareness 
and TRM-Error Management sessions. The TRM topic was included in the ATCO refresher course. On-the-job-training at 
various ATS units continued and 33 practical tests of student ATCOs and ATCOs were conducted.

The achievement and maintenance by ATCOs of English language proficiency levels in compliance 
with ICAO Annex 1 and EC Directive No. 23 was a priority. A series of courses in Aviation 

English were conducted both in Bulgaria and in an English-speaking country. The 
execution of the contract with Mayflower College, UK, continued by providing 
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courses for the maintenance of ATCO’s English language proficiency. 

Ensuing from the right to conduct the Test of English for Aviation (TEA) granted under a contract with Mayflower College 
Ltd., testing was performed at BULATSA Training Centre to determine the English language proficiency levels of aviation 
personnel (ATCOs and pilots). 50 applicants were tested, i.e. 29 ATCOs and 21 pilots.

Work on the modification and harmonization of documents regulating the process of ATCO selection, training and 
competence maintenance was concluded in 2011. The following documents were finalised: Training Plans for the 
training of ATCOs at ATS Units, Competence Schemes for ATS Units, Ordinance No. 1 on the selection, training, testing 
and inspections of ATCOs and ATC coordinators in BULATSA. A modification to Ordinance No. 1 will be prepared in 2012 
in order to achieve compliance with Commission Regulation (EU) No. 805/2011 laying down detailed rules for air traffic 
controllers’ licences and certain certificates.

2. Aeronautical Information Services (AIS)

A number of activities were carried out aimed at the enhancement of the quality of air navigation services and meeting 
the requirements of the customers, including:

A new Ordinance No.15 on aeronautical information services was prepared and came into force on 13 April 2011. 

A new edition of the AIP of the Republic of Bulgaria was published in connection with the coming into effect of 
Ordinance No.15.

In order to update and keep up-to-date the information in the AIP of the Republic of Bulgaria 15 aeronautical publications 
were prepared, coordinated and disseminated: АIRAC AIP AMDT 01/11, AIRAC AIP AMDT 02/11, AIRAC AIP AMDT 03/11, 
AIP AMDT 122, AIP AMDT 123, AIP AMDT 124, AIP AMDT 125, AIP AMDT 126, AIP SUP 03/11, AIC 03/11, 04/11 and 05/11; 
AIC 01/12; AIC 02/12 and AIC 03/12.

The main activities performed in connection with the European AIS database (EAD) were as follows:
•	 an update of the static database in EAD, Mode SDO, to comprise all aeronautical publications in the reporting 

period;
•	 publication in Mode PAMS of all aeronautical publications that came out in the reporting period;
•	 all the data was fed into a new section of the Mode SDO DP – SDO Data Completeness – in the EAD.

1 267 NOTAM messages, series B, were published.

The NOTAM Sector processed 287 204 foreign NOTAM messages in accordance with the requirements of NSC. 21 114 
foreign SNOWTAM messages were processed in accordance with the requirements of NSC as well as 1 950 Bulgarian 
SNOWTAM messages.

3  781 inquiries and replies were transmitted in connection with missing, incomplete or ambiguous NOTAM and 
SNOWTAM messages.

57 new position indicators according to ICAO were introduced as well as 5 new series of NOTAM messages.

The AIP Manual was updated. Amendments 3.2 and 3.3 to the AIP Manual were prepared pursuant to the coming into 
force of Ordinance No.15 on aeronautical information services which is now available on the internal BULATSA site and 
in the Integrated Management System module.

A report was drafted to initiate a modification to the ANS Manual, Part 1 and 2, in connection with the new Ordinance 
No. 15 and the new format of the AIP of the Republic of Bulgaria. Completely new AIS sections were developed for 
inclusion in the new edition of the ANS Manual.

Updated was the electronic version (in PDF file format) of the AIP of the Republic of Bulgaria on the internal and 
the external BULATSA corporate site to reflect modifications to the AIP which became effective during the 
reporting period.

A campaign was organized to in order to reduce the paper copies of aeronautical 
publications mailed to customers and promote the use of electronic copies.
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3. Meteorological Services
In 2011 a pilot project was developed for the restructuring of MET services and the establishment of a Common 
Prognostic Centre in Sofia and a Regional Prognostic Centre in Burgas. New meteorological products 

oriented to the needs of general aviation were implemented – GAMET and AIRMET and training of external users was 
organized. A selection procedure was launched for a consultant for the design, production, delivery and assembly of a 
tower for the Doppler MET Radar Tower site in Vakarel, Ihtiman community.

The first part of the project for the upgrade of the two Doppler Weather Radars – Meteor-360 AC in Sofia and Varna was 
concluded under a contract for software and hardware upgrades, was signed on 27 December 2010.

Two new sections and regulations were introduced in the Meteorological Services Manual and eleven sections were 
modified. 

A project was implemented for the software upgrade of the Automatic Terminal Information System (ATIS) comprising 
ATIS, VOLMET and GAMET modules and all the ATIS modules became operational.
A contract was concluded with EUMETSAT for the use of satellite meteorological data for the period 2012-2013.

The following training courses were conducted in 2011:
•	 Operational forecasts and warnings using satellite methods and technology. Comparison of radar and satellite 

images when simultaneously viewed and synchronized in time.
•	 Advanced Forecasting, held at the Met Office College HQ, Exeter, UK for the purpose of the certification of 

aviation meteorological personnel by a licensed European centre.

4. BULATSA Training Centre

In fulfillment of its main activity in 2011 the BULATSA Training Centre provided training oriented to the 
acquisition and maintenance of qualifications to its own aviation personnel and to employees of 

airport operators. 

In response to staffing needs ab-initio courses for ATCOs were conducted for ACC 
Sofia and the ATS units. Courses were developed and conversion training 
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was conducted for the attainment of an additional qualification class for ATCOs from ACC Sofia and the ATS units in 
Varna and Burgas. 

The BULATSA Training Centre played a vital role in activities aimed at facilitating air traffic controllers to achieve the 
English language proficiency Operational Level 4 or higher and in their preparation for the English language test.

Lecturers from the BULATSA Training Centre took part in the training of students from the Air Transport Department of 
Sofia Technical University, majoring in Aviation Equipment and Technology.

VII.  TECHNICAL PROVISION OF OPERATIONS

1. Development and licensing of the engineering and technical personnel

In 2011 the BULATSA engineering and technical personnel, providing technical support services to the equipment and 
ATM Systems, maintained their licences of qualifications in accordance with EUROCONTROL ESSAR 5 requirements. New 
tests were developed and conducted by the computer-based TESLA System.

2. Communications

In 2011 communications with adjacent ACC centres in Romania, Serbia and Turkey were improved and the regional IP 
network was extended. New high-speed lines were set up for the transmission of voice and data, new services were 
implemented (radar data exchange) and a new back-up scheme was introduced for data transfer between Sofia, Ankara 
and Istanbul  ACCs. 

A contract is being executed for the delivery and installation of equipment to enhance BULATSA’s communications 
infrastructure. 

The power-supply systems of communications facilities in remote sites were renewed.

A public procurement procedure was conducted and a contract was signed for the delivery of an Aeronautical Message 
Handling System (AMHS). The Factory Acceptance Test was completed successfully and the system was installed at Sofia 
ACC.

3. Navigation and Meteorological Equipment

A contract was signed in 2011 for the procurement and installation of five DMEs for the provision of RNAV coverage with 
an accuracy of 5 NM for en-route traffic at FL 100/120. Contract execution is now proceeding.

Documentation was prepared for a public procurement procedure for the selection of a contractor for the design and 
execution of new CNS infrastructure sites and the reconstruction of existing ones.

A procedure was launched in order to negotiate the upgrade of PDV DVOR at the Plovdiv ANS unit.

The number of non-directional radio beacons (NDBs) at the ANS units of Varna, Burgas and Gorna Oryahovitsa was 
optimized.

An update of the Instructions for maintenance and failure restoration of NAV aids and of AWOS was conducted.

Technical maintenance was performed of the Sofia RIMS Station, part of the EGNOS Project.

In line with the current requirements of ICAO Annex 3 an upgrade was performed of the Automated Weather Observing 
System (AWOS) – AviMet VAISALA and the system was put into operation at Sofia ACC.

4. Surveillance

In 2011 an upgraded version of the ARTAS multi-radar processing system was put into 
operation. This was done by the complete replacement of the obsolete hardware and 
the installation of new application software operating under Linux.
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In 2011 the documentation for a public procurement procedure was finalized and a tender was launched for the 
procurement of an Advanced Surface Movement Guidance and Control System (A-SMGCS). Two other major projects 
in the field of surveillance began in 2011: the first one is related to the implementation of the latest technology in 
automatic dependent and independent surveillance – WAM and ADS-B, while the second put a beginning to the 
complete upgrade of the en-route radar stations and the installation of a new en-route radar station at Sofia Airport.

A contract was signed for the upgrade of the human-machine interface of the SATCAS ATM System through the delivery 
of 25 Barco ISIS MDP471 monitors with 2Kx2K resolution and LED backlight.

The contract signed in 2011 for the upgrade of the SATCAS ATM System includes an upgrade of the multi-radar processing 
system in order to be able to use new sources of surveillance data operating in Mode S, as well as WAM and ADS-B.

5. Power-supply and Lighting Provision

The following UPS systems were put into operation in 2011: UPS 2х10 кVА at Gorna Oryahovitsa ANS unit and UPS 2х40 
кVА at the Airport Radar Station of Sofia ACC.  

Two low-voltage distribution boards were delivered and mounted in the Technical Room of the CNATCC in Sofia, as well 
as a low-voltage board for a transformer’s mast post at the DVOR/DME Baylovo site of Sofia ACC, seven pcs combined 
overvoltage protection devices for incoming and outgoing lines Type1+2 (Class I+II), B+C protection, a three-phase 
network with a common PE and N conductor for the En-route Radar Station at Cherni Vrah site.

The following public procurement procedures were organized and carried out: Delivery of measuring equipment for the 
Power Supply, Mechanical and Lighting Systems Department, Sofia ACC; Delivery of storage batteries for BULATSA sites; 
Lighting of runway wind indicators at Plovdiv ANS unit; Diagnostics, expertise and prevention of stationary alkaline 
NiCd battery – 110VDC – for operational voltage used by the Distribution Switching Devices (DSD) System 6 кV, DSD 20 
кV, as well as the diesel generator distribution board and the transformer distribution board.

Technical assignments and documentation were prepared for public procurement procedures to select a Contractor for 
the following deliverables: Supply, installation and putting into operation of a UPS 2x40KVA at Varna ATS unit; Supply 
and installation of 6 low-voltage distribution boards for Sofia ACC; Building works for the reconstruction of middle-
voltage power supply at Sofia ACC Power Substation.

Pursuant to the requirements of Directive 2009/12 of the European Parliament and the Council relating to air navigation 
charges in terminal areas and the subsequent modifications to the Civil Aviation Act of the Republic of Bulgaria, working 
groups were established at all ANS units which, in collaboration with airport operators, developed and endorsed 
organisational plans for the transfer of the technical maintenance of lighting equipment, including inventories of assets 
to be handed over and safety cases for those plans. A programme for the initial training of engineering and technical 
personnel and a programme for Class F qualifications training (lighting systems) of engineering and technical personnel 
were developed and endorsed by DG CAA. Technical assignments were prepared for the reconstruction of power supply 
systems in the vicinity of airports to ensure the power supply of BULATSA equipment situated on sites where a hand-
over will be performed.        
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VIII.  SAFETY AND QUALITY MANAGEMENT
Safety is the main priority in all BULATSA activities. It concentrates in itself the product of operational, technical and 
financial activities and is in close interaction with quality requirements.

Regular analyses were performed in 2011 on the impact of aviation occurrences on the safety of the ATM System. The 
following documents were finalized: “BULATSA Annual Analysis on the Status of ATM Safety for the year 2010” and 
“BULATSA Analysis on the Status of ATM Safety during the first half of 2011”.

A number of activities were performed aimed at the improvement of BULATSA safety culture, such as reporting to 
the operational personnel during the monthly briefing sessions on the results of performed inspections, analyses and 
investigations of occurrences; regular meetings were held of the Safety Group and the Safety Council.  Following the 
inquiry for the assessment of safety culture, conducted together with EUROCONTROL, a plan for the improvement of 
safety culture was prepared.

The safety assessments of systems/aids used for the provision of ANS, such as NAV and MET aids, surveillance/radar 
systems, and voice communication systems, were updated. After a thorough analysis of the updated safety assessments, 
a measure for improvement was adopted – the correction and amendment of the assessment of communications 
services at Sofia ACC. An assessment of the significance of each change to the operational systems was conducted and 
a safety plan for its implementation was drawn.

241 ATM-related occurrences were recorded in 2011 as compared to 154 ATM-related occurrences in 2010.
 
On the basis of the investigations carried out, two of the occurrences were classified as class (A) – serious incident, four – 
as incidents with severity class (B) – major incident, and six were classified as incidents with severity class (C) – incident. 
In comparison, one incident with severity class (B) – major incident, and six incidents with severity class (C) – incident 
were reported in 2010. The target safety levels of BULATSA, as prescribed by DG CAA, are given in Table 1 below. 
  

Incident category 2011 г.

AA (accident) 0

A (serious incident) + B (major incident) ≤ 0.90

C (incident) ≤ 2

Achieved safety levels by BULATSA – incidents per 100,000 flights

AA (accident) 0

A (serious incident) + B (major incident) ≤ 0.86

C (incident) ≤ 2

The target safety levels have been determined on the basis of the statistical analysis of empirical data by using 
Poassan distribution of probability.

Table 1: 2011 target safety levels of BULATSA per 100,000 flights 

On an annual basis was registered a negative change in the variation of the number of safety-related occurrences, 
categories А and B, in comparison with the two previous years, as represented in Chart 1. Nevertheless, final conclusions 
should be made on the basis of the relative number of occurrences per 100,000 flights, as the increase in traffic should 
be taken into account.
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Chart 1: Number of occurrences category (А) and (В) per 100,000 controlled flights 

The trend towards a change in the relative number of occurrences category (А) and (В) per 100,000 controlled aircraft 
is represented in Chart 2 (15 successive one-year periods, 15 periods of 10 successive years each and 15 periods of 5 
successive years each were analyzed by the roll-over me

Chart 2: Relative number of occurrences category (А) and (В) per 100,000 controlled aircraft

Over the indicated period, based on the data in the roll-over diagrams comprising five and ten years each, a stable trend 
towards improvement of safety is clearly outlined: from 1.32 to 0.68 occurrences per 100,000 controlled aircraft (Chart 2, 

the 10-year data line). A more serious analysis ought to be performed of the increase on an annual basis and further 
effort should be invested into an analysis of the human factor and operational procedures for the provision 

of ANS with the aim of improving safety in the short term and sustaining the lasting trend of improve-
ments over a 10-year period.

78 flight inspections of 44 facilities for air navigation and landing were performed in 
accordance with the flight check annual plan approved by DG CAA. A special 
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ments over a 10-year period.

78 flight inspections of 44 facilities for air navigation and landing were performed in 
accordance with the flight check annual plan approved by DG CAA. A special 
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flight inspection was made of the radar coverage of Balchik airport. 

A software upgrade of the onboard equipment of the Falcon-2000-LZ-001 aircraft was implemented.

To ensure the safety performance of the ILS/DME27-ISF landing system in the conditions of Cat.III a control measuring 
of unauthorized broadcasting in the frequency bands used by the system was carried out together with representatives 
of the Communications Regulation Commission, the State Agency on National Security and the Bulgarian CAA.

In order to maintain its ANSP certificate BULATSA has implemented an integrated Quality Management System (QMS) 
as per the requirements of the Standard ISO 9001:2008. In 2011 the QMS was successfully recertified against the 
requirements of ISO 9001:2008 and the certificate, issued by “SGC Bulgaria”, is under double accreditation – by the 
Executive Agency “Bulgarian Accreditation Service” and by the United Kingdom Accreditation Service (UKAS), with the 
following scope: “Provision of air navigation services, including ATM, communications, navigation and surveillance, 
aeronautical information services, aeronautical meteorological services, power supply and lighting provision services 
and training of aviation personnel”. 

In order to achieve improvement of other aspects of management activities, an Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System (OHSMS) in accordance with the requirements of the standard BS OHSAS 18001:2007 is maintained 
as part of the integrated QMS. The implementation of an Information Security Management System in accordance with 
the requirements of ISO 27001:2005 started in 2011 as part of the integrated QMS.

For the purpose of improving environmental management the year 2011 saw the performance of feasibility studies in 
the areas of impact. In October 2011 a seminar was held with the participation of aviation stakeholders. A collaborative 
project with the participation of EUROCONTROL was launched during the reporting period on the assessment of the 
environmental impact of the establishment of the DANUBE FAB.

A system of performance indicators for BULATSA processes was implemented to ensure quantifiable target levels and 
to relate the processes and their indicators to the key performance indicators (KPIs) used in the National Performance 
Plan in compliance with Regulation (EC) No. 691/10.   

As a result of BULATSA’s self-assessment performed by means of CANSO’s Fitness Check Model, a Plan for the 
improvement of BULATSA’s activity was developed and endorsed which foresees efficiency enhancement measures in 
the areas of safety, environment and cost efficiency. 

 
IX.  ADMINISTRATIVE AND HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

In 2011 continued the work towards the realization of the organisation’s priorities: extending the administrative 
capacity, enhancing performance and the quality of administrative services. The main emphasis was placed on the in-
depth conduct of the processes aimed at the normative regulation of activities and the strengthening of the managerial 
functions of structural units.

Human resources management followed the policy set forth in the Business Plan of the enterprise for a gradual reduction 
in the number of employees, merger of performed functions by additional training and improving of work productivity.

The main processes in the Human Resources Management Domain in 2011 were directed to increasing the quality of 
human resources as the main way to achieving BULATSA’s strategic goals and increasing ANS efficiency.

In 2011 continued the implementation of the policy of planning and selection of personnel, whereas 15 selections 
were organized and carried out in accordance with staff needs in the appropriate domains. In the process of personnel 
selection the criteria were raised and the testing assessment methods were improved so as to meet the increased 
requirements imposed by regulations, job descriptions and the licensing of operational and engineering personnel. 
The personnel selection system has been improved and developed by conducting specialized and English language 
proficiency tests for the assessment and ranking of candidates, by implementing standard procedures and 
forms and by increasing the competence of the committee’s members. In order to meet the needs of 
Sofia ACC and the ANS units for operational staff, the external selection initiated in 2010 for the 
position of air traffic controller (ATCO) was completed in 2011. Thus, following the ab-
initio training at the BULATSA Training Centre for a student-air traffic controller 
(SATCL) license, employment contracts were signed with 15 of the successful 
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trainees. An external selection for ATCOs for Sofia ACC attracted 669 applicants.  After the specialized FEAST test 82 of 
the applicants began practical training at the BULATSA Training Centre. 

Human resources management at BULATSA is focused mainly on ensuring a sufficient number of motivated and 
highly qualified personnel and their appropriate allocation to the different structural units by taking into account and 
coordinating employment needs. In 2011 running changes in the schedule of positions and job descriptions were 
carried out, in order to achieve compliance with the 2011 National Classification of Jobs and Positions and to adapt 
specific activities to the changing economic circumstances. The administration of personnel was ensured, including 
appointments, dismissals and reassignments of 900 employees.

The overall organisation of the participation of BULATSA employees in specialized training courses at the EUROCONTROL 
Institute of Air Navigation Services (IANS) in Luxembourg was carried out. Pursuant to the established trend towards 
development of human resources in the organization to reach the European level of development of employees’ 
professional skills and qualifications, a Programme was elaborated for the maintenance and improvement of BULATSA’s 
employee qualifications in 2011. The Programme unifies and details all types of training courses held at the BULATSA 
Training Centre, specialized courses in the country and abroad (including EUROCONTROL IANS), as well as specialized 
foreign language training, making provisions to ensure training for 40% of the personnel over one calendar year. 
In fulfillment of this Programme 188 employees took part in professional training courses. 65 employees from the 
administrative domain attended 30 courses, 60 employees from the operational domain attended 5 courses, and 63 
employees from the technical domain attended 5 courses. 36 BULATSA employees attended General English courses.  
  
In the courses provided by the EUROCONTROL Institute of Air Navigation Services in Luxembourg participated 133 
employees in a total of 97 courses. Participation in IANS specialized training courses and the exchange of experience 
among EUROCONTROL member states will enable BULATSA to become a constituent part of a safe and efficient 
European ATM System. Under a long-term agreement with the Mayflower College of English Ltd., Plymouth, United 
Kingdom, 86 of BULATSA’s employees attended courses in Aviation English for ATCOs to improve their English language 
skills and achieve the ICAO language proficiency requirements, i.e. Level 4 of the ICAO rating scale as a minimum.

In fulfillment of the strategic objectives of BULATSA’s Annual Activity Plan for the year 2011 a cost-benefit analysis was 
performed in view of the implementation of an integrated management system of business processes in the area of 
human resources management. A report was drafted regarding the necessity of a public procurement for the Supply 

and Implementation of a HR Management Information System. BULATSA filed an application for financial aid 
under a selection procedure for the project “Improvement of processes related to environmental protection 

and the management of human resources” which is co-financed under the Operational Programme 
“Development of the Competitiveness of the Bulgarian Economy in the period 2007-2013” 

with the European Regional Development Funds. 
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X.  FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING

In 2011 the processes in the financial and accounting activity were directed towards meeting the requirements of the 
national and the European legislation, as well as to the provision of reliable financial and accounting services to the 
enterprise. In order to ensure the financial stability of BULATSA a reasonable policy of expenditure was pursued in the 
conditions of the ongoing world financial crisis. 

In 2011 BULATSA continued to apply a policy aimed at the establishment of the optimal level of the En-Route unit rate 
in view of attracting additional traffic in the civil controlled airspace where BULATSA is in charge of service provision. 

The rate of collection of terminal navigation charges continued to be very high, approximately 99%. 

In connection with changes in the national legislation the accounting software and the software employed in the 
calculation of salaries were updated. 

Financial reports for 2010 on the accounting of expenditures in connection with the execution of the DANUBE FAB 
Project were submitted to the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications and to the European 
Commission. 

According to the financial analysis indicators, BULATSA is in a good financial condition. The values of the indicators 
exemplifying its activity are as follows (the 2010 values are given in brackets): 

1. Net sales revenue – 167,874 thousand levs (164,745), out of which 166,331 (163,464) thousand levs are derived 
from air navigation charges.

2. Net revenue from sales per employee – 142 (135) thousand levs. 
3. Profit/ loss from the activity in % - 4.80% (3.12% )
4. General liquidity coefficient – 3.37 (4.83)
5. Financial autonomy coefficient – 3.12 (5.16)
6. Number of serviced units per employee – 1, 705 (1,513)

XI.  REPORT ON THE BULATSA ANNUAL ACTIVITY PLAN FOR THE YEAR 2011

The annual activity plans of BULATSA contain a list of the main tasks with a timeframe for their completion and the 
names of people in charge of the tasks. A detailed account of the execution of the planned tasks in the BULATSA Annual 
Activity Plan for the year 2011 is given in the Annual Activity Report for the year 2011. In the Annual Activity Plan for the 
year 2011 there is no specific interrelatedness of the impact of such activities on performance indicators, as the National 
Performance Plan (NPP) comprises the first reference period (2012-2014) and has no bearing on the current reporting 
period. Accounting of the fulfillment of the performance indicators in accordance with the NPP will be made when 
preparing the accounts and the financial statements for the year 2012.

    
XII.  ASSESSMENT OF THE EFFICIENCY OF THE PROVIDED AIR NAVIGATION SERVICES AND  
        THE SAFETY LEVEL ACHIEVED

1. Cost Efficiency

In 2011 BULATSA continued the trend of improving its cost efficiency established over the past few years, trying to 
provide services at a lower price and setting the targeted improvement in the cost base. An example of this is the 
Industry Partnership Agreement (IPA) signed with IATA for the period 2007-2011 under which BULATSA made a 
commitment to improve its cost efficiency by optimizing the en-route unit rate from EUR 48.3 in 2007 down to EUR 40.5 
in 2011. Actually, the value of the en-route unit rate of EUR 39.6 achieved in 2011 is significantly lower than the original 
commitment made (Table 2). 
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Year 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

En-route unit rate in 
EUR – targets set in the IPA €48.28 €46.10 €45,11 €43.27 €40.54

En-route unit rate in
EUR – actual outcome €48.28 €46.10 €43.57 €42,80 €39.62

Table 2: En-route unit rate targets set in the IPA vs. outcome

As a result, BULATSA was awarded an honorable mention for the second time in 2011 by IATA’s independent Eagle 
Awards Panel for its high productivity and reductions in air navigation charges. This was accompanied by improved 
productivity through reducing the numbers of the personnel and improving ATCO productivity over the past ten years. 
In terms of ATCO productivity and productivity in general Sofia ACC ranks among the first in Europe boasting rates of 
productivity which are commensurate with Central European states.

2. Capacity

The indicator “average en-route delay” (Table 3) provides an estimate of the capacity of airspace. The causes for the 
delays in September and October 2011 are detailed in item VI – Operations. 

En-route delays at Sofia ACC in 2011

Month

Total 
number of 
en-route 

flights

Change in the number 
of en-route flights in 

comparison with 2010 
(%)

Aggregate en-route 
delay (minutes)

Average delay per flight 
(minutes)

January 29599 9.2 0 0

February 25601 2.2 0 0

March 30733 2.7 0 0

April 37156 24.2 0 0

May 45974 3.6 0 0

June 53450  6.3 0 0

July 62401 5.3 0 0

August 61201 4.5 0 0

September 57564 15.5 393 0

October 50892 9.8 31356 0.6

November 33236 3.4 0 0

December 29834 -0.5 0 0

2011 total 464191 6.66 31749 0.1

Table 3: Average en-route delay per flight at Sofia ACC in 2011

General delay indicators as defined by EUROCONTROL are given in Table 4. The average en-route delay for 2011 is the 
result of the en-route delays generated in October.
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Delay indicators for flights controlled by BULATSA in 2011

Total number of aircraft  539365

Regulated traffic (number of flights) 1767

Delayed traffic (number of flights) 1289

Aggregate delay of aircraft (minutes) 31749

Delay generated by airports (minutes) 0

Average daily en-route traffic (number of flights) 1495

Average daily en-route delayed traffic (number of flights) 4

ATFM en-route delay (minutes) 104

Average en-route delay of en-route delayed traffic (minutes) 24.7

Average delay per en-route flight (minutes) 0.1

Average delay per delayed en-route flight (minutes) 0,06

Delayed aircraft < 15 minutes (number of flights) 861

Delayed aircraft < 30 minutes (number of flights) 362

Delayed aircraft < 60 minutes (number of flights) 42

Table 4: Indicators of delay in 2011

3. Quality of Air Navigation Services

On the basis of the general delay indicators provided by EUROCONTROL, indicators of the quality of ANS – 
predictability and reliability of the services of BULATSA – are described in Table 5.

Indicators of the quality of ANS provided by BULATSA in 2011

Predictability of the service (% of flights with less than 15 minutes 
delay) 99.8%

Reliability of the service   (% of flights with less than 60 minutes delay) 100%

Table 5: Indicators of the quality of ANS provided by BULATSA in 2011

4. Achieved Level of Safety

The level of safety achieved is detailed in section VII – Safety and Quality Management.
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XIII.  KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR 2012-2014. TASKS AND PLANNED MAJOR        
         INVESTMENTS IN THE BULATSA BUSINESS PLAN FOR THE PERIOD  2012-2016

1. Execution of the National Performance Plan of the Republic of Bulgaria for the first reference period 2012-
2014

The BULATSA performance indicators listed in the National Performance Plan comply with the requirements of the 
currently acting regulations. Regulation (EU) No. 691/2010 laying down a performance scheme for air navigation 
services and network functions, defines four performance areas: Safety, Capacity, Environment and Cost-Efficiency. 
European Union-wide key performance indicators and key performance targets have been set for the first reference 
period 2012-2014 (RP1) of the performance scheme. The Member States are under an obligation to define their national 
targets for the key performance indicators in the areas of capacity and cost-efficiency, which will contribute to the 
achievement of the EU-wide objectives.

For the second reference period the objectives will be extended to include the two other remaining areas. 

In the National Performance Plan of the Republic of Bulgaria, which is to be approved by the European Commission, 
BULATSA has undertaken a commitment to achieve certain performance indicators in the areas of capacity and cost-
efficiency and thus contribute to the indicators at the national level, which constitute a part of the EU-wide performance 
indicators.       

1.1. Safety

No safety targets have been set up in the National Performance Plan for the first reference period (2012-2014). No 
reference can be made for 2011.

The maturity of the Safety Management System of BULATSA is defined on an annual basis by means of a self-assessment 
for the preceding three years. BULATSA has set itself the goal to achieve by the end of 2014 a maturity of 70% as measured 
against the EUROCONTROL indicators. This will be a 15%-increase over the value measured by EUROCONTROL in 2010. 

Through an internal procedure BULATSA has introduced a mandatory incident reporting scheme. To facilitate the 
application of the scheme two main principles are used to control the quality of the data:

•	 Promoting Safety Culture.
•	 Ongoing implementation of an automated monitoring tool for safety nets.

The data from ATCO reports are assessed and analysed on an annual basis.
A Programme aimed at the improvement of Safety Culture has been introduced by BULATSA. The Safety Culture 
was assessed by EUROCONTROL in 2010, the assessment spanning the preceding three-year period.

•	 Target safety levels.

Incident category 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

AA (accident) 0 0 0 0 0

A (serious incident) + B (major incident) ≤ 0.95 ≤ 0.97 ≤ 0.79 ≤0.75 ≤0.75

C (incident) ≤ 2 ≤ 2 ≤ 2 ≤ 2 ≤ 2

Achieved safety levels by BULATSA – incidents per 100,000 flights

AA (accident) 0 0 0 0 0

A (serious incident) + B (major incident) ≤ 0.86 ≤ 0.86 ≤ 0.79 ≤ 0.75 ≤ 0.75

C (incident) ≤ 2 ≤ 2 ≤ 2 ≤ 2 ≤ 2

The target safety levels have been determined on the basis of the statistical analysis of empirical data by using 
Poassan distribution of probability.

Table 6:  BULATSA target safety levels per 100,000 flights set by DG CAA for the period 2012-2016

1.2. Capacity

The measures planned in BULATSA’s Business Plan ensured the achievement of the 
system’s optimal capacity.
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By the use of certain en-route delay levels the aim for the period 2012-2014 is to reach the values set up by EUROCONTROL 
through the so called airspace capacity planning mechanism.

1.3. Environment

No environmental targets have been set up in the National Performance Plan for the first reference period (2012-2014).

BULATSA exercises a consistent policy aimed at achieving and maintaining the efficiency of horizontal en-route flights 
and minimizing the margin between actual and optimal trajectory, as well as effectively utilizing the civil-military 
airspace structures. The planned implementation of route network version 7 is key for the environment.

As a part of the DANUBE FAB project there is ongoing work on establishing an Environmental Management System 
(EMS) which will be certified in accordance with the requirements of ISO:14001. It will enable the identification and 
monitoring of certain aspects of BULATSA’s activity which are related to the environment. A systematic approach will be 
implemented for the setting up of environmental objectives.

1.4. Cost Efficiency

BULATSA’s cost efficiency is in line with the pan-European objectives to reduce the en-route unit rate.

BULATSA is proactive in its policy of partnership with airspace users, taking into an account their needs. As a result an 
Industry Partnership Agreement was concluded with IATA for the period 2007-2011. A reduction in the en-route unit 
rate has been planned for the whole duration of the Agreement, but the actual overall reduction achieved at the end of 
the 5-year period is in excess of the originally planned.

The improvement of cost efficiency in terminal areas is very important for BULATSA as well. This can be achieved by 
the gate-to-gate approach which will enable a balancing between demand and supply of the services and a better 
utilization of resources. 
  

1.5. Alert Thresholds for Performance Indicators

During the first reference period the alert thresholds will be controlled by DG CAA. In its attempts to optimize performance 
indicators and in compliance with Regulation (EU) No. 691/2010, BULATSA will be monitoring certain thresholds 
for performance indicators, beyond which corrective mechanisms in the organisation’s policy will be activated. The 
measures set up for the attainment of capacity are actually corrective plans which will be prepared and applied. The risk 
sharing mechanism shall be applied to cost-efficiency, in accordance with Article 11a of Regulation (EU) No. 1191/2010 
amending Regulation (EC) No. 1794/2006 laying down a common charging scheme for air navigation services. 

2. Major Investments in BULATSA Business Plan for the period 2012-2016: 

•	 Replacement of the primary and secondary radars (for Mode S operation) in en-route radars sites;
•	 Upgrade of the automated SATCAS ATM System by adding new functionalities and/or modifying the algorithm 

of existing ones to achieve compliance with EU regulations or in order to use surveillance information from new 
sensors;

•	 Construction of a new Air Traffic Control Tower at Sofia Airport;
•	 Replacement of the primary and secondary radars (for Mode S operation) at Sofia Airport radar site;
•	 Implementation of a Surface Movement Guidance and Control  System (A-SMGCS) at Sofia Airport;
•	 Implementation of an Automatic Dependent Surveillance Broadcast (ADS-B) System;
•	 Implementation of a Wide Area Multilateration (WAM) System for Sofia Approach;
•	 Implementation of surface navigation infrastructure (DME-DME) for the provision of RNAV procedures;
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•	 Reconstruction of the power-supply systems of Sofia, Varna, Burgas and Plovdiv Airports.

XIV.  RISKS TO THE ACTIVITIES OF BULATSA

1. Currency risk

The enterprise is exposed to currency risks arising from purchases, sales and acquired loan funds, denominated in 
foreign currency. The Bulgarian lev is fixed to the Euro in the proportion of 1:1,95583. The currency risk for BULATSA 
stems basically from possible transactions in US dollars. The management team controls the currency risk by fixing the 
prices for purchases, sales and loans in levs or euros.

2. Interest risk

The enterprise does not use interest loans.

Appendices:
•	 National	unit	rates	of	the	EUROCONTROL	Member	States	–	2011.
•	 Serviced	units	of	the	EUROCONTROL	Member	States	–	2011.
•	 Modifications	to	the	national	unit	rate	of	Bulgaria	for	the	period	2005-2011.

Date:

Diyan DINEV

Director General
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To The Managing board of

Bulgarian Air Traffic Services Authority

Sofia

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bulgarian Air Traffic Services Authority, which comprise 

the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2011, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement 

of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by EU,  and the national legislation and for such internal control 

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
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includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Bulgarian Air Traffic Services 

Authority as of 31 December 2011, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by EU and the national legislation.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements – Management’s report for the year ended 31 December 2011 

We have reviewed the management’s report for the year ended 31 December 2011 of Bulgarian Air Traffic Services 

Authority, which is not part of the financial statements. The historical financial information in the management’s report 

complies in its main aspects with the financial information, presented in the financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2011, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by and the 

national legislation. The preparation of the management’s report is responsibility of the management.

Mariy Apostolov

Registered Auditor

Managing partner

Grant Thornton Ltd.

Auditing Company

  15 March 2012

   Sofia
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER

Assets Note 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 178,006 189,015

Intangible assets 6 16,774 21,155

Deferred tax assets 7 3,690 2,791

Non-current assets 198,470 212,961

Current assets

Inventories 8 2,366 2,721

Trade receivables 9 27,958 24,628

Related party receivables 27 530 428

Tax receivables 10 84 584

Other receivables 11 5,800 5,345

Cash and cash equivalents 12 141,491 116,411

Current assets 178,229 150,117

Total assets 376,699 363,078

Vencislav Markov
Director of Finance and Chief Accountant
                               

 

Diyan Dinev
Director General

Prepared by: Evgenia Vankova                               
                          Head of Accounting Department

Date: 08 March 2012

                                        

Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER (CONTINUED)

Equity and liabilities Note 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Equity

Registered capital 13.1 129,758 129,758

Legal reserves 13.2 37,713 37,249

Other reserves 13.2 108,970 107,765

Retained earnings 8,752 4,641

Total equity 285,193 279,413

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Pension and other employee obligations 14.2 12,579 14,025

Provisions 15 26,835 39,198

Financing 170 10

Non-current liabilities 39,584 53,233

Current liabilities

Pension and other employee obligations 14.2 20,761 21,091

Provisions 15 19,111 -

Trade payables 16 5,020 2,677

Short-term related party liabilities 27 2,865 2,831

Tax liabilities 17 1,291 1,093

Other liabilities 18 2,874 2,740

Current liabilities 51,922 30,432

Total liabilities 91,506 83,665

Total equity and liabilities 376,699 363,078

Vencislav Markov
Director of Finance and Chief Accountant

Diyan Dinev
Director General

Prepared by: Evgenia Vankova                                
                          Head of Accounting Department

Date: 08 March 2012

                                        

Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER (CONTINUED)
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Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Revenue 19 166,331 163,464

Other revenue 20 1,543 1,281

Cost of materials 21 (4,146) (4,163)

Hired-services expenses 22 (17,158) (16,910)

Personnel expenses 14,1 (102,732) (101,083)

Depreciation and amortization of non-financial assets 6,5 (23,580) (24,023)

Other expenses 23 (12,197) (14,991)

Operating profit 8,061 3,575

Finance income 24 2,963 2,480

Finance costs 24 (1,291) (917)

Profit before tax 9,733 5,138

Income tax expense 25 (981) (497)

Profit for the year 8,752 4,641

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,752 4,641

Vencislav Markov
Director of Finance and Chief Accountant

Diyan Dinev
Director General

Prepared by: Evgenia Vankova
                         Head of Accounting Department

Date: 08 March 2012

                                        

Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

All amounts are presented in BGN 
‘000

Registered 
capital

Legal 
reserves

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2011 129,758 37,249 107,765 4,641 279,413

Assets accounted for reserves 
increase - - 741 - 741

Dividends - - - (3,713) (3,713)

Transactions with owners - - 741 (3,713) (2,972)

Profit for the year - - - 8,752 8,752

Total comprehensive income for 
the year - - - 8,752 8,752

Transfer of retained earnings for 
2010 - 464 464 (928) -

Balance at 31 December 2011 129,758 37,713 108,970 8,752 285,193

Vencislav Markov
Director of Finance and Chief Accountant

Diyan Dinev
Director General

Prepared by: Evgenia Vankova                               
                          Head of Accounting Department

Date: 08 March 2012
Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER(CONTINUED)

All amounts are presented in 
BGN ‘000

Note Registered 
capital

Legal 
reserves

Other  
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2010 129,758 34,100 133,539 18,726 316,123

Accounting estimates 
adjustments

13.2
- - (26,379) - (26,379)

Adjusted balance as at 01 
January 2010

13.2
129,758 34,100 107,160 18,726 289,744

Assets accounted for reserves 
increase - - 9 - 9

Dividends - - - (14,981) (14,981)

Transactions with owners - - 9 (14,981) (14,972)

Profit for the year - 4,641 4,641

Total comprehensive income 
for the year - - - 4,641 4,641

Transfer of retained earnings for 
2009 - 3,149 596 (3,745) -

Balance at 31 December 2010 129,758 37,249 107,765 4,641 279,413

 Vencislav Markov
 Director of Finance and Chief Accountant

Diyan Dinev
Director General

Prepared by: Evgenia Vankova
                         Head of Accounting Department

Date: 08 March 2012

                                        

Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER(CONTINUED)
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Prepared by: Evgenia Vankova
                         Head of Accounting Department

Date: 08 March 2012

                                        

Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (INDIRECT METHOD)

Notes 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Operating activities

Profit before tax 9,733 5,138

Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortization expenses 5.6 23,580 24,023

Impairment loss 23 910 873

Pension provisions 14.1 2,619 9,134

Provisions for constructive obligations 23 6,464 9,888

Net interest income 24 (1,771) (1,785)

Gain / (loss) from disposals of property, plant and equipment 36 (154)

Operating profit before changes in working capital and 
provisions 41,571 47,117

Decrease of trade and other receivables 355 5,236

Decrease of inventories 8 573 376

Decrease of trade and other liabilities (5,608) (18,294)

Corporate income tax paid (1,213) (1,461)

Net cash flow from operating activities 35,678 32,974

Investment activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7,456) (2,084)

Purchase of intangible assets (2,164) (2,377)

Interest received 2,680 3,216

Net cash flow from investment activity (6,940) (1,245)

Financing activities

Dividends 4.14, 13.2 (3,713) (14,981)

Net cash flow from financing activities (3,713) (14,981)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 25,025 16,748

Gains from foreign currency translation differences 55 184

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 12 94,897 77,965

Cash and cash equivalents, year end 12 119,977 94,897

Cash reserve in Bulgarian National Bank 21,514 21,514

Cash and cash equivalents, year end 141,491 116,411

Vencislav Markov
Director of Finance and Chief Accountant

Diyan Dinev
Director General

Prepared by: Evgenia Vankova
                         Head of Accounting Department

Date: 08 March 2012
Audited according to the auditor’s report dated 15 March 2012
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of operations

The Bulgarian Air Traffic Services Authority (BULATSA, the “Entity”) is an Entity operating in the Republic of Bulgaria. On 
1 January 2001 the Entity was registered as a state owned enterprise. Prior to this registration, it operated as directorate 
under the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications in Bulgaria. At present the Minister of 
Transport, Information Technology and Communications (MTITC) is the sole owner of the Entity.

The Entity performs functions for the provision of air navigation in the controlled civil airspace of the Republic of 
Bulgaria. BULATSA’s main spheres of activity include: 

1. Air traffic management aimed at achieving safety, efficiency and regularity of flights in the controlled civil airspace of 
the Republic of Bulgaria; 
2. Planning, provision, implementation, operation and maintenance of facilities, systems and equipment to ensure 
the communications, navigation, surveillance, power-supply, lighting, meteorological and aeronautical aspects of the 
serviced air traffic and its supporting infrastructure;
3. Provision of communications, navigation and surveillance services; 
4. Provision of meteorological services; 
5. Provision of aeronautical information services;
6. Provision of metrological services;
7. Provision of information services for aircraft search and rescue operations;
8. Management of the air traffic safety system within its assigned powers;
9. Fulfillment of the obligations of the Republic of Bulgaria ensuing from international agreements in the ATM area, to 
which the Republic of Bulgaria is a signatory state;

The activities of the Entity are governed by the Civil Aviation Act and Regulations of the Function, Organization and 
Activity of the Bulgarian Air Traffic Services Authority. 
The governing bodies of the Entity are as follows: 

1. The Minister of Transport, Information Technology and Communications;
2. Management Board; 
3. Director General.

At the date of the financial statements, as well as at the date of preparation of the financial statements, the members of 
the Management Board are as follows:

1. Iskra Angelova – Chairperson of the Management Board
2. Diyan Dinev – Director General and member of the Management Board
3. Geo Georgiev – member of the Management Board

As of 31.12.2011 the entity has 1 184 employees.

2. Basis for the preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements of the Entity have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and approved by the European Union (EU).

The financial statements are presented in Bulgarian leva (BGN), which is also the functional currency of the Entity. All 
amounts are presented in thousand Bulgarian leva (BGN‘000) (including comparative information for 2010) unless 
otherwise stated.
The financial statements are prepared under the going concern principle.

3. Changes in accounting policies

3.1. Overall considerations

The Entity has adopted the following new interpretations, revisions and amendments to IFRS issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, which are relevant to and effective for the Entity‘s 

financial statements for the annual period beginning 1 January 2011:

•	 IAS 24  “Related Party Disclosures”  (amended) effective from 1 January 2011, 
adopted by the EU on 19 July 2010;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of operations

The Bulgarian Air Traffic Services Authority (BULATSA, the “Entity”) is an Entity operating in the Republic of Bulgaria. On 
1 January 2001 the Entity was registered as a state owned enterprise. Prior to this registration, it operated as directorate 
under the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications in Bulgaria. At present the Minister of 
Transport, Information Technology and Communications (MTITC) is the sole owner of the Entity.

The Entity performs functions for the provision of air navigation in the controlled civil airspace of the Republic of 
Bulgaria. BULATSA’s main spheres of activity include: 

1. Air traffic management aimed at achieving safety, efficiency and regularity of flights in the controlled civil airspace of 
the Republic of Bulgaria; 
2. Planning, provision, implementation, operation and maintenance of facilities, systems and equipment to ensure 
the communications, navigation, surveillance, power-supply, lighting, meteorological and aeronautical aspects of the 
serviced air traffic and its supporting infrastructure;
3. Provision of communications, navigation and surveillance services; 
4. Provision of meteorological services; 
5. Provision of aeronautical information services;
6. Provision of metrological services;
7. Provision of information services for aircraft search and rescue operations;
8. Management of the air traffic safety system within its assigned powers;
9. Fulfillment of the obligations of the Republic of Bulgaria ensuing from international agreements in the ATM area, to 
which the Republic of Bulgaria is a signatory state;

The activities of the Entity are governed by the Civil Aviation Act and Regulations of the Function, Organization and 
Activity of the Bulgarian Air Traffic Services Authority. 
The governing bodies of the Entity are as follows: 

1. The Minister of Transport, Information Technology and Communications;
2. Management Board; 
3. Director General.

At the date of the financial statements, as well as at the date of preparation of the financial statements, the members of 
the Management Board are as follows:

1. Iskra Angelova – Chairperson of the Management Board
2. Diyan Dinev – Director General and member of the Management Board
3. Geo Georgiev – member of the Management Board

As of 31.12.2011 the entity has 1 184 employees.

2. Basis for the preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements of the Entity have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and approved by the European Union (EU).

The financial statements are presented in Bulgarian leva (BGN), which is also the functional currency of the Entity. All 
amounts are presented in thousand Bulgarian leva (BGN‘000) (including comparative information for 2010) unless 
otherwise stated.
The financial statements are prepared under the going concern principle.

3. Changes in accounting policies

3.1. Overall considerations

The Entity has adopted the following new interpretations, revisions and amendments to IFRS issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, which are relevant to and effective for the Entity‘s 

financial statements for the annual period beginning 1 January 2011:

•	 IAS 24  “Related Party Disclosures”  (amended) effective from 1 January 2011, 
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•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 effective from 1 January 2011 unless otherwise stated, adopted by the EU on 
18 February 2011.

Significant effects on current, prior or future periods arising from the first-time adoption of these new requirements in 
respect of presentation, recognition and measurement are described as follows:

IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” (amended) effective from 1 January 2011, adopted by the EU on 19 July 2010

The revised standard removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all transactions 
with the government and other government-related entities. It also clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related 
party. The amendment introduces an exemption from the disclosure requirements of IAS 24 for transactions between 
government-related entities and the government, and all other government-related entities. Those disclosures are 
replaced with a requirement to disclose: the name of the government and the nature of the relationship, the nature 
and amount of any individually-significant transactions and a qualitative or quantitative indication of the extent of any 
collectively-significant transactions. The Entity has approved to report transactions and balances with other entities 
under the control of the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Telecommunications.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 effective from 1 January 2011 unless otherwise stated, adopted by the EU 
on 18 February 2011:
-IFRS 7 amendment clarifies the disclosure requirements of the standard to remove inconsistencies, duplicative 
disclosure requirements and specific disclosures that may be misleading.
-IAS 1 amendment clarifies that entities may present the required reconciliations for component of other comprehensive 
income either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
-IAS 34 amendment clarified certain disclosures relating to events and transactions that are significant to an 
understanding of changes in the Entity’s circumstances since the last annual financial statements, including the current 
amendments and requirements of IFRS 7. 

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are not relevant to the business 
activities of the Entity and have no effect on the financial statements:

•	 IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” (amended) – Limited Exemption from 
Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters – effective from 1 July 2010, adopted by the EU on 30 June 
2010;

•	 IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” (amended) effective from 1 February 2010, adopted by the EU on 24 
December 2009;

•	 IFRIC 14 “Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement” (amended) effective from 1 January 2011, adopted 
by the EU on 19 July 2010;

•	 IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments” effective from 1 July 2010, adopted by the EU 
on 23 July 2010;

3.2. Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not 
been adopted early by the Entity

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to 
existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Entity. 

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Entity‘s accounting policies for the first 
period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments and 
interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Entity’s financial statements is provided below.

IAS 1 “Financial Statement Presentation” – Other Comprehensive Income, effective from 1 July 2012, not yet 
adopted by the EU
The amendment requires entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income into two groups, based 
on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. Items that will not be recycled such as revaluation 
gains on property, plant and equipment will be presented separately from items that may be recycled in the future, 
such as deferred gains and losses on cash flow hedges. Entities that choose to present other comprehensive income 
items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately. 
The title used by IAS 1 for the statement of comprehensive income has changed to ‘statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income’. However IAS 1 still permits entities to use 
other titles. 
Early adoption is permitted and full retrospective application is required.
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IAS 12 “Income Taxes” – Deferred Tax, effective from 1 January 2012, not yet adopted by the EU
Currently IAS 12 “Income Taxes” requires an entity to measure the deferred tax relating to an asset depending on 
whether the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset through use or sale. It can be difficult and 
subjective to assess whether recovery will be through use or through sale when the asset is measured using the fair 
value model in IAS 40 “Investment Property”. Hence this amendment introduces an exception to the existing principle 
for the measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property measured at fair value. As a 
result of the amendments, SIC 21 “Income taxes- recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets”, would no longer apply 
to investment properties carried at fair value. The amendments also incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining guidance 
previously contained in SIC 21, which is accordingly withdrawn.

IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EU
These amendments eliminate the corridor approach and calculate finance costs on a net funding basis. ‘Actuarial 
gains and losses’ are renamed ‘remeasurements’ and will be recognised immediately in ‘other comprehensive income’. 
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income will not be recycled through profit or loss in subsequent 
periods. The amendments should be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in 
accounting estimates and errors’.

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” – Derecognition, effective from 1 July 2011, not yet adopted by the EU 
The amendments will promote transparency in the reporting of transfer transactions and improve users‘ understanding 
of the risk exposures relating to transfers of financial assets and the effect of those risks on an entity’s financial position, 
particularly those involving securitisation of financial asset.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EUIFRS 9 “Financial 
instruments” represents the first milestone in the comprehensive IASB project to replace IAS 39 “Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement” by the end of 2010. It replaces multiple measurement categories in IAS 39 with a single 
principle-based approach to classification. IFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be measured at either amortised cost or 
full fair value. Amortised cost provides decision-useful information for financial assets that are held primarily to collect 
cash flows that represent the payment of principal and interest. For all other financial assets, including those held for 
trading, fair value represents the most relevant measurement basis. IFRS 9 eliminates the need for multiple impairment 
models; such that only one impairment model for financial assets carried at amortised cost will be required.

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EUIFRS 13 “Fair Value 
Measurement” defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Standard clarifies that fair value is based 
on a transaction taking place in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the 
most advantageous market. The principal market is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the 
asset or liability.

Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on 
the Entity’s financial statements:

•	 IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” (amended) – Fixed dates and 
Hyperinflation, effective from 1 July 2011, not yet adopted by the EU

•	 IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EU

•	 IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EU

•	 IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EU

•	 IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements” (Revised) effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EU

•	 IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (Revised) effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by 
the EU

•	 IFRIC 20  “Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine”  effective from 1 January 2013, not 
yet adopted by the EU



36

ANNUAL ACTIVITY REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2011 
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subjective to assess whether recovery will be through use or through sale when the asset is measured using the fair 
value model in IAS 40 “Investment Property”. Hence this amendment introduces an exception to the existing principle 
for the measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property measured at fair value. As a 
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previously contained in SIC 21, which is accordingly withdrawn.
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These amendments eliminate the corridor approach and calculate finance costs on a net funding basis. ‘Actuarial 
gains and losses’ are renamed ‘remeasurements’ and will be recognised immediately in ‘other comprehensive income’. 
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income will not be recycled through profit or loss in subsequent 
periods. The amendments should be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in 
accounting estimates and errors’.

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” – Derecognition, effective from 1 July 2011, not yet adopted by the EU 
The amendments will promote transparency in the reporting of transfer transactions and improve users‘ understanding 
of the risk exposures relating to transfers of financial assets and the effect of those risks on an entity’s financial position, 
particularly those involving securitisation of financial asset.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EUIFRS 9 “Financial 
instruments” represents the first milestone in the comprehensive IASB project to replace IAS 39 “Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement” by the end of 2010. It replaces multiple measurement categories in IAS 39 with a single 
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Measurement” defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Standard clarifies that fair value is based 
on a transaction taking place in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the 
most advantageous market. The principal market is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the 
asset or liability.

Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on 
the Entity’s financial statements:

•	 IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” (amended) – Fixed dates and 
Hyperinflation, effective from 1 July 2011, not yet adopted by the EU

•	 IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” effective from 1 January 2013, not yet adopted by the EU
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4. Accounting policy

4.1. Overall considerations

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized 
below.

The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS for each type of asset, 
liability, income and expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies below. 

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used for the preparation of the financial statements. 
Although these estimates are based on management‘s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results 
may ultimately differ from those estimates.

4.2. Presentation of financial statements

The financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (revised 2007). 
The Entity has elected to present the statement of comprehensive income as a single statement.

The Entity presents comparative information for one previous reporting period in the financial statements for 2011. The 
comparative information for 2010 has been reclassified to achieve compatibility between changes in the presentation 
for the current year and previous reporting periods. More information on the reclassifications is presented in notes 13.2 
and 15.

4.3. Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate as published by the Bulgarian National Bank). Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items at year-end 
exchange rates are recognized in profit or loss.

4.4. Revenue

Revenue comprises revenue from the rendering of services. Revenue from major services is shown in note 19.

Revenue is measured by reference to the fair value of consideration received or receivable by the Entity for goods 
supplied and services provided, excluding VAT.

Revenue is recognized, provided all of the following conditions are satisfied:
•	 the	amount	of	the	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;
•	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	Entity;
•	 the	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	can	be	measured	reliably;
•	 when	the	criteria	for	each	of	the	Entity’s	different	activities	has	been	met.	These	activity-specific	recognition	
criteria are based on the goods or solutions provided to the customer and the contract conditions in each case, and are 
described below.

Deferred income

Financing for fixed assets and current activity are initially recognized in the statement of financial position as deferred 
income when there are sufficient grounds to believe that they will be received and that the Entity will meet the related 
conditions. Income from financing for fixed assets is recognized evenly for the term of the useful life of the respective 
assets. 
Income from financing of current activity is recognized during the period to the amount of the accounted 
expenses, for which they are intended
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4.4.1. Rendering of services

Services rendered by the Entity comprise the provision of air navigation services (see note 19).

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognized when the services are provided by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract at the reporting date. In the cases when there is significant uncertainty as to whether the 
remuneration due or any other expenses have been received, no revenue is recognized.

Revenue comprises only the gross cash flows from economic benefits, received by and due to the Entity.

Amounts, collected from third parties, such as value added taxes, do not comply with the requirements to revenue and 
as such, they are excluded from the revenue and recognized as balances instead.

4.4.2. Interest income

Interest income is recognized on a current basis using the effective interest method.

4.5. Operating expense

Operating expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the service or at the date of their origin.

4.6. Interest expenses

Interest expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method and are recognized as an expense 
for the period of origin, in the statement of comprehensive income as “Finance expenses”

4.7. Intangible assets

Intangible assets include specialized and standard software. The cost comprises its purchase price, including any 
import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, and any directly attributable expenditure on preparing the asset 
for its intended use, whereby capitalized costs are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful 
lives, as these assets are considered finite. After initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at its cost less any 
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement 
of comprehensive income for the respective period.

Subsequent expenditure on an intangible asset after its purchase or its completion is expensed as incurred unless it 
is probable that this expenditure will enable the asset to generate future economic benefits in excess of its originally 
assessed standard of performance and this expenditure can be measured reliably and attributed to the asset. If these 
conditions are met, the subsequent expenditure is added to the carrying amount of the intangible asset.

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date.  

Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of individual assets as follows:

•	 Software   5 years
•	 Rights for use   according to the term of usage

Amortization has been included within ‘Depreciation of non-financial assets’ in the Statement of comprehensive income.

The gain or loss arising from the disposal of an intangible asset is determined as the difference between the proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset, and is recognized in profit or loss within ‚Profit from sale of non-current assets‘ in 
the Statement of comprehensive income.

The recognition threshold adopted by the Entity for the intangible assets amounts to BGN 150.

4.8. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost, which comprises its purchase 
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition 

for its intended use.



38

ANNUAL ACTIVITY REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2011 

4.4.1. Rendering of services

Services rendered by the Entity comprise the provision of air navigation services (see note 19).
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as such, they are excluded from the revenue and recognized as balances instead.

4.4.2. Interest income

Interest income is recognized on a current basis using the effective interest method.

4.5. Operating expense
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4.6. Interest expenses

Interest expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method and are recognized as an expense 
for the period of origin, in the statement of comprehensive income as “Finance expenses”

4.7. Intangible assets

Intangible assets include specialized and standard software. The cost comprises its purchase price, including any 
import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, and any directly attributable expenditure on preparing the asset 
for its intended use, whereby capitalized costs are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful 
lives, as these assets are considered finite. After initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at its cost less any 
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement 
of comprehensive income for the respective period.

Subsequent expenditure on an intangible asset after its purchase or its completion is expensed as incurred unless it 
is probable that this expenditure will enable the asset to generate future economic benefits in excess of its originally 
assessed standard of performance and this expenditure can be measured reliably and attributed to the asset. If these 
conditions are met, the subsequent expenditure is added to the carrying amount of the intangible asset.

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date.  

Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of individual assets as follows:

•	 Software   5 years
•	 Rights for use   according to the term of usage

Amortization has been included within ‘Depreciation of non-financial assets’ in the Statement of comprehensive income.

The gain or loss arising from the disposal of an intangible asset is determined as the difference between the proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset, and is recognized in profit or loss within ‚Profit from sale of non-current assets‘ in 
the Statement of comprehensive income.

The recognition threshold adopted by the Entity for the intangible assets amounts to BGN 150.

4.8. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost, which comprises its purchase 
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition 

for its intended use.
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After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are carried at their cost less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement 
of comprehensive income for the respective period.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to the carrying amount of the 
asset when it is probable that this expenditure will enable the asset to generate future economic benefits in excess of 
its originally assessed standard of performance. All other subsequent expenditure is recognized as incurred.

The residual value and the useful life of property, plant and equipment are determined as of the reporting date. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of individual assets as follows:

•	 Buildings    up to 40 years
•	 Plants and machines  from 7 to 15 years
•	 Vehicles    from 7 to 10 years
•	 Fixtures and fittings   15 years
•	 Computers    5 years
•	 Others    7 years

Depreciation has been included within ‘Depreciation and amortization of non-financial assets’.

Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between 
the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognized in profit or loss within ‘Profit from sale 
of non-current assets’.

The recognition threshold adopted by the Entity for property, plant and equipment amounts to BGN 150.

4.9. Impairment testing of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent 
cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested 
at cash-generating unit level. 

All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset‘s or cash-generating unit‘s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine the 
value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a 
suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing 
procedures are directly linked to the Entity‘s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of 
future reorganizations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating 
unit and reflect their respective risk profiles as assessed by management.

Impairment losses for cashgenerating units reduce the carrying amount of the assets allocated to that cash-generating 
unit. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no longer 
exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

4.10. Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Entity becomes a party to contracts, containing financial 
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when 
the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. 

A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

All financial assets are recognized on their transaction date.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are subsequently measured as described below.

4.10.1. Financial assets

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories, depending on the purpose for which the investments were 
acquired. The category determines subsequent measurement and whether any resulting income and expense is 
recognized in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. 

All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment at least at 
each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial 
assets, which are described below.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognized in profit or loss are presented within ‚ Finance 
costs‘, ‚Finance income‘ or ‚Other financial items‘, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within 
‚Other expenses‘.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. After initial recognition these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognized in profit or loss. The Entity’s cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. Discounting is omitted where the effect 
of discounting is immaterial.

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective 
evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Impairment of trade receivables is presented within ‚ Other 
expenses‘.

4.10.2. Financial liabilities

The Entity‘s financial liabilities include trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Entity becomes a party to the contractual agreements for payment of cash 
amounts or another financial asset to another Entity or contractual liability for exchange of financial instruments with 
another Entity under unfavorable terms. All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument‘s fair 
value that are reported in profit or loss are included within ‚Finance costs‘ or ‚Finance income‘.

Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for financial 
liabilities held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, that are carried subsequently at fair value 
with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss.

Trade payables are recognized initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortized cost less 
settlement payments.

4.11. Inventories

Inventories include materials and goods. Cost of inventories includes all expenses directly attributable to the purchase 
or manufacturing process, recycling and other direct expenses connected to their delivery as well as suitable portions 
of related production overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Financing costs are not included in the cost of 
the inventories. At the end of every accounting period, inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. The amount of impairment of inventories to their net realizable value is recognized as an expense for the period 
of impairment. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price of the inventories less any applicable selling expenses. In 
case inventories have already been impaired to their net realizable value and in the following period 

the impairment conditions are no longer present, then the new net realizable value is adopted. 
The reversal amount can only be up to the carrying amount of the inventories prior to 

their impairment. The reversal of the impairment is accounted for as decrease 
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in inventory expenses for the period in which the reversal takes place.

The Entity determines the cost of inventories by using the weighted average cost.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is expensed in the period in which the related 
revenue is recognized. 

4.12. Income taxes

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to 
the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date.  Current tax is payable on taxable profit, 
which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability unless the related transaction affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred tax on temporary differences 
associated with shares in subsidiaries and joint ventures is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can 
be controlled by the Entity and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future 
taxable income. For management’s assessment of the probability of future taxable income to utilize against deferred 
tax assets, see note 4.17.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Entity has a right and intention to set off current tax assets 
and liabilities from the same taxation authority.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, 
except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case 
the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

4.13. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, current bank accounts, demand deposits that are readily convertible 
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.14. Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Equity

In accordance with art. 53 of the Civil Aviation Act, BULATSA is established as a state entity in compliance with art. 62, 
par. 3 of the Commercial Act. 

The registered capital of the Entity is 100 percent state ownership - Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and 
Communications.

Legal reserves

Legal reserves include the following:

- reserve conceded from corporate income tax regulated by the Corporate 
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are subsequently measured as described below.

4.10.1. Financial assets

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories, depending on the purpose for which the investments were 
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All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment at least at 
each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial 
assets, which are described below.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognized in profit or loss are presented within ‚ Finance 
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. After initial recognition these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognized in profit or loss. The Entity’s cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. Discounting is omitted where the effect 
of discounting is immaterial.

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective 
evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Impairment of trade receivables is presented within ‚ Other 
expenses‘.

4.10.2. Financial liabilities

The Entity‘s financial liabilities include trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Entity becomes a party to the contractual agreements for payment of cash 
amounts or another financial asset to another Entity or contractual liability for exchange of financial instruments with 
another Entity under unfavorable terms. All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument‘s fair 
value that are reported in profit or loss are included within ‚Finance costs‘ or ‚Finance income‘.

Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for financial 
liabilities held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, that are carried subsequently at fair value 
with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss.

Trade payables are recognized initially at their nominal value and subsequently measured at amortized cost less 
settlement payments.

4.11. Inventories

Inventories include materials and goods. Cost of inventories includes all expenses directly attributable to the purchase 
or manufacturing process, recycling and other direct expenses connected to their delivery as well as suitable portions 
of related production overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Financing costs are not included in the cost of 
the inventories. At the end of every accounting period, inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. The amount of impairment of inventories to their net realizable value is recognized as an expense for the period 
of impairment. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price of the inventories less any applicable selling expenses. In 
case inventories have already been impaired to their net realizable value and in the following period 

the impairment conditions are no longer present, then the new net realizable value is adopted. 
The reversal amount can only be up to the carrying amount of the inventories prior to 

their impairment. The reversal of the impairment is accounted for as decrease 
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in inventory expenses for the period in which the reversal takes place.

The Entity determines the cost of inventories by using the weighted average cost.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is expensed in the period in which the related 
revenue is recognized. 

4.12. Income taxes

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to 
the current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date.  Current tax is payable on taxable profit, 
which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability unless the related transaction affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred tax on temporary differences 
associated with shares in subsidiaries and joint ventures is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can 
be controlled by the Entity and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future 
taxable income. For management’s assessment of the probability of future taxable income to utilize against deferred 
tax assets, see note 4.17.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Entity has a right and intention to set off current tax assets 
and liabilities from the same taxation authority.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, 
except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case 
the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

4.13. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, current bank accounts, demand deposits that are readily convertible 
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.14. Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Equity

In accordance with art. 53 of the Civil Aviation Act, BULATSA is established as a state entity in compliance with art. 62, 
par. 3 of the Commercial Act. 

The registered capital of the Entity is 100 percent state ownership - Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and 
Communications.

Legal reserves

Legal reserves include the following:

- reserve conceded from corporate income tax regulated by the Corporate 
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Income Tax Act in certain conditions, when the Entity forms a specific reserve equal to the conceded tax amounting to 
60 % of the liability for corporate income tax.

 - legal reserves equal to 10 % of the net profit for the periods in accordance with Regulation 140 dated 04 December 
2001, issued by the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications and the Ministry of Finance for 
maintenance of cash reserve of the Entity.

Other reserves

Other reserves include reserves formed at the acquisition of non-current assets – owned by the state, provided for 
management by the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications, as well as retained earnings 
from prior periods. Retained earnings include the current financial result for the period. The Entity distributes the 
profit for the prior period as reserves and a dividend to the state represented by the Ministry of Transport, Information 
Technology and Communications.

All transactions with the owners of the Entity are recorded separately within the Statement of changes in equity.

4.15. Post-employment benefits and short-term employee benefits

The Entity reports short-term payables relating to unutilized paid leaves, which shall be compensated in case it is 
expected the leaves to occur within 12 months after the end of the accounting period during which the employees 
have performed the work related to those leaves. The short-term payables to personnel include salaries and related 
social security payments.

In accordance with the requirements laid down in the Labor Code and the Collective Labor Agreement, in case of 
retirement, after the employee has gained the legal right of retirement pension due to years of services and age, the 
Entity is obliged to pay him/her compensation at the amount of up to six gross salaries and additional compensation in 
accordance with the Collective Labor Agreement. The Entity has reported a liability by law for the payment of retirement 
compensation in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. The amount is based on forecasts made for the next five 
years, discounted with the long-term income percentage of risk free securities.

The Entity provides post employment benefits through defined benefit plans as well as defined contribution plans.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Entity pays fixed contributions into independent 
entities. The Entity has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after the payment of the fixed 
contributions. The Entity pays fixed contributions in regard to defined contribution plans.

Plans that do not meet the definition of a defined contribution plan are defined benefit plans. The defined benefit plan 
defines the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement by reference to length of service 
and final salary.  

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation (DBO) at the reporting date.

The Management estimates the DBO annually with the assistance of independent actuaries. The estimate of its post-
retirement benefit obligations is based on standard rates of inflation and mortality. It also takes into account the Entity‘s 
specific anticipation of future salary increases. Discount factors are determined close to each year-end by reference to 
risk-free treasury securities that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms 
to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as an expense.

Interest expenses related to pension obligations are included in the Statement of comprehensive income within ‚Finance 
costs‘. All other post employment benefit expenses are included within ‘Employee benefits expense’.

Short-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities included in 
‘Pension and other employee obligations’, measured at the undiscounted amount that the 

Entity expects to pay.
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Income Tax Act in certain conditions, when the Entity forms a specific reserve equal to the conceded tax amounting to 
60 % of the liability for corporate income tax.

 - legal reserves equal to 10 % of the net profit for the periods in accordance with Regulation 140 dated 04 December 
2001, issued by the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications and the Ministry of Finance for 
maintenance of cash reserve of the Entity.
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Other reserves include reserves formed at the acquisition of non-current assets – owned by the state, provided for 
management by the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications, as well as retained earnings 
from prior periods. Retained earnings include the current financial result for the period. The Entity distributes the 
profit for the prior period as reserves and a dividend to the state represented by the Ministry of Transport, Information 
Technology and Communications.

All transactions with the owners of the Entity are recorded separately within the Statement of changes in equity.

4.15. Post-employment benefits and short-term employee benefits

The Entity reports short-term payables relating to unutilized paid leaves, which shall be compensated in case it is 
expected the leaves to occur within 12 months after the end of the accounting period during which the employees 
have performed the work related to those leaves. The short-term payables to personnel include salaries and related 
social security payments.

In accordance with the requirements laid down in the Labor Code and the Collective Labor Agreement, in case of 
retirement, after the employee has gained the legal right of retirement pension due to years of services and age, the 
Entity is obliged to pay him/her compensation at the amount of up to six gross salaries and additional compensation in 
accordance with the Collective Labor Agreement. The Entity has reported a liability by law for the payment of retirement 
compensation in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. The amount is based on forecasts made for the next five 
years, discounted with the long-term income percentage of risk free securities.

The Entity provides post employment benefits through defined benefit plans as well as defined contribution plans.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Entity pays fixed contributions into independent 
entities. The Entity has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after the payment of the fixed 
contributions. The Entity pays fixed contributions in regard to defined contribution plans.

Plans that do not meet the definition of a defined contribution plan are defined benefit plans. The defined benefit plan 
defines the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement by reference to length of service 
and final salary.  

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation (DBO) at the reporting date.

The Management estimates the DBO annually with the assistance of independent actuaries. The estimate of its post-
retirement benefit obligations is based on standard rates of inflation and mortality. It also takes into account the Entity‘s 
specific anticipation of future salary increases. Discount factors are determined close to each year-end by reference to 
risk-free treasury securities that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms 
to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as an expense.

Interest expenses related to pension obligations are included in the Statement of comprehensive income within ‚Finance 
costs‘. All other post employment benefit expenses are included within ‘Employee benefits expense’.

Short-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities included in 
‘Pension and other employee obligations’, measured at the undiscounted amount that the 

Entity expects to pay.
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4.16. Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognized when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably lead to an outflow of 
economic resources from the Entity and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still 
be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resulted 
from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous contracts. Provisions are not recognized for future operating 
losses.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most 
reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present 
obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, 
where the time value of money is material.

Any reimbursement that the Entity can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is 
recognized as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is considered 
improbable or remote, no liability is recognized.

The contingent liabilities have to be measured subsequently at higher cost between the above comparative provision 
and the initially recognized cost, less the accumulated depreciation and amortization. 

Possible inflows of economic benefits to the Entity that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered 
contingent assets.

4.17. Significant management judgment in applying accounting policies

The significant judgements of the Management in applying the accounting policies of the Entity that have the most 
significant effect on the financial statements are described below. Significant estimation uncertainties are described in 
note 4.18.

Deferred tax assets

The assessment of the probability of future taxable income in which deferred tax assets can be utilized is based on the 
Entity’s latest approved budget forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific 
limits to the use of any unused tax loss or credit. If a positive forecast of taxable income indicates the probable use of a 
deferred tax asset, especially when it can be utilized without a time limit, that deferred tax asset is usually recognized in 
full. The recognition of deferred tax assets that are subject to certain legal or economic limits or uncertainties is assessed 
individually by the Management based on the specific facts and circumstances. 

4.18. Estimation uncertainty

When preparing the financial statements management undertakes a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The actual results may differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management, and will seldom 
equal the estimated results.

Information about significant judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are discussed below.

4.18.1. Impairment of receivables

The accounting estimate for losses from doubtful and uncollectable receivables is made at 
the end of each reporting period. The receivables, which have been past due between 
3 months and 6 months are classified as doubtful, and those which have been 
past due over 6 months - as uncollectible ones. The management of the 
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Entity adopted that the doubtful receivables are impaired up to 50% from their carrying value, and the uncollectable 
receivables are fully impaired.

    4.18.2. Useful lives of depreciable assets

The Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date.

At 31 December 2011 the Management assesses that the useful lives represent the expected utility of the assets to 
the Entity. The carrying amounts are analyzed in notes 5 and 6. Actual results, however, may vary due to technical 
obsolescence, particularly relating to software and IT equipment.

4.18.3. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. In estimating net realizable values, management 
takes into account the most reliable evidence available at the times the estimates are made.

4.18.4. Defined benefit liability

The Management estimates the defined benefit liability annually with the assistance of independent actuaries; however, 
the actual outcome may vary due to estimation uncertainties. The estimate of its defined benefit liability is based on 
actuaries assumptions, described in Note14.2. 

4.18.5. Provisions

Provisions for constructive obligations due to users of en-route air-navigation services (airline companies)

Services provided by BULATSA are related to the air navigation services (ANS) in the airspace of the Republic of Bulgaria. 
These services are divided into en-route air navigation services and terminal area navigation services. The en-route unit 
rate is calculated according to the Multilateral Agreement for Route Charges. In addition, BULATSA applies a regime 
of full cost recovery of en-route charges in compliance with the Principles for Establishing the Cost-Base for En-route 
Charges and the Calculation of. the Unit Rates (the Principles of EUROCONTROL) and Regulation (EU) No. 1794/2006 
until the end of year 2011. The unit rate for en-route ANS is based on the planned expenditures and the estimated 
number of serviced units. Thus deviations are possible – “over-recovery” or “under-recovery”, between the estimated 
amounts and those recorded at the end of the period. As a result the Principles of EUROCONTROL provide for the 
application of an adjustment mechanism as follows: 

- In case of an over-recovery or a surplus of income in a certain reporting period, the costs after two years are 
reimbursed through this surplus and the amount of the cash inflow is adjusted. 

- In case of under-recovery in a certain reporting period, the amount of the cash inflow (revenue) is increased 
after two years with the amount of the costs that have not been fully recovered in the accounting period. 
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Entity adopted that the doubtful receivables are impaired up to 50% from their carrying value, and the uncollectable 
receivables are fully impaired.

    4.18.2. Useful lives of depreciable assets

The Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date.

At 31 December 2011 the Management assesses that the useful lives represent the expected utility of the assets to 
the Entity. The carrying amounts are analyzed in notes 5 and 6. Actual results, however, may vary due to technical 
obsolescence, particularly relating to software and IT equipment.

4.18.3. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. In estimating net realizable values, management 
takes into account the most reliable evidence available at the times the estimates are made.

4.18.4. Defined benefit liability

The Management estimates the defined benefit liability annually with the assistance of independent actuaries; however, 
the actual outcome may vary due to estimation uncertainties. The estimate of its defined benefit liability is based on 
actuaries assumptions, described in Note14.2. 

4.18.5. Provisions

Provisions for constructive obligations due to users of en-route air-navigation services (airline companies)

Services provided by BULATSA are related to the air navigation services (ANS) in the airspace of the Republic of Bulgaria. 
These services are divided into en-route air navigation services and terminal area navigation services. The en-route unit 
rate is calculated according to the Multilateral Agreement for Route Charges. In addition, BULATSA applies a regime 
of full cost recovery of en-route charges in compliance with the Principles for Establishing the Cost-Base for En-route 
Charges and the Calculation of. the Unit Rates (the Principles of EUROCONTROL) and Regulation (EU) No. 1794/2006 
until the end of year 2011. The unit rate for en-route ANS is based on the planned expenditures and the estimated 
number of serviced units. Thus deviations are possible – “over-recovery” or “under-recovery”, between the estimated 
amounts and those recorded at the end of the period. As a result the Principles of EUROCONTROL provide for the 
application of an adjustment mechanism as follows: 

- In case of an over-recovery or a surplus of income in a certain reporting period, the costs after two years are 
reimbursed through this surplus and the amount of the cash inflow is adjusted. 

- In case of under-recovery in a certain reporting period, the amount of the cash inflow (revenue) is increased 
after two years with the amount of the costs that have not been fully recovered in the accounting period. 
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Legal provisions

The Entity is currently defending certain lawsuits where the actual outcome may vary from the amount recognized in 
the financial statements. None of the provisions will be discussed here in further detail so as not to seriously prejudice 
the Entity’s position in the related disputes.

5. Property, plant and equipment

Entity’s property, plant and equipment include land, buildings, machines, plant, equipment, vehicles and expenditures 
for fixed assets acquisition. The carrying amount can be analyzed as follows:

Land and 
buildings

Machines 
and plants

Vehicles Equipment Expenditures 
for fixed assets 

acquisition

Total

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Gross carrying 
amount

Balance at 1 January 
2011 141,321 188,322 3,212 3,978 1,609 338,442

Additions 745 563 - 43 4,457 5,808

Transfers (28) 791 - 6 (769) -

Disposals (23) (276) (93) (86) - (478)

Balance at 31 
December 2011 142,015 189,400 3,119 3,941 5,297 343,772

Depreciation

Balance at 1 January 
2011 (25,181) (119,902) (2,044) (2,224) (76) (149,427)

Disposals 9 268 92 69 - 438

Depreciation (3,458) (12,771) (250) (298) - (16,777)

Balance at 31 
December 2011 (28,630) (132,405) (2,202) (2,453) (76) (165,766)

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2011 113,385 56,995 917 1,488 5,221 178,006

Land and 
buildings

Machines 
and plants

Vehicles Equipment Expenditures 
for fixed assets 

acquisition

Total

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Gross carrying 
amount

Balance at 1 
January 2010 141,306 183,736 3,229 3,948 6,528 338,747
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Additions 22 469 - 48 516 1,055

Transfers - 5,336 - 10 (5,346) -

Disposals (7) (1,219) (17) (28) (89) (1,360)

Balance at 31 
December 2010 141,321 188,322 3,212 3,978 1,609 338,442

Depreciation

Balance at 1 
January 2010 (21,707) (106,923) (1,683) (1,939) (154) (132,406)

Disposals 1 1,218 17 26 78 1,340

Depreciation (3475) (14,197) (378) (311) - (18,361)

Balance at 31 
December 2010 (25,181) (119,902) (2,044) (2,224) (76) (149,427)

Carrying 
amount at 31 
December 2010 116,140 68,420 1,168 1,754 1,533 189,015

All depreciation charges are included within ‚Depreciation and amortization of non-financial assets’.

The Entity has а contractual commitment to acquire assets, the deliveries under which are initially recognized as 
expenditures for non-current assets acquisition. Expenses for the acquisition of non-current assets at 31.12. 2011 are at 
the amount of BGN 5,221 thousand and are presented as follows:

•	 Airport Control Tower (ACT) at Sofia Airport (BGN 1,494 thousand)
•	 Upgrade of two MTS radar systems (BGN 1,223 thousand)
•	 Delivery and installation of AFTN (BGN 1,118 thousand)
•	 Delivery of assets (BGN 755 thousand)

The accrued expenditures for fixed tangible assets acquisition are transferred into the respective group of assets, when 
the Entity acquires the rights for use of the asset and it is put into operation. The respective amounts are presented 
within item “Transfers”.

Land – state-owned by the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications, provided for use and 
management to the Entity, which amounts to BGN 1,354 thousand (2010: BGN 5,805 thousand) have been accounted 
on behalf of other reserves.

Newly acquired machines and plants, amounting to BGN 1,354 thousand (2010: BGN 5,805 thousand) are related to the 
following major acquired assets:

•	 Multi-radar information processing system (BGN 334 thousand)
•	 Computers, servers, monitors (BGN 203 thousand)
•	 Cloud meters (BGN 131 thousand)
•	 Emergency power supply for BULATSA property (BGN 98 thousand)
•	 Conditioners (BGN 90 thousand)
•	 Signal generator (BGN 76 thousand)
•	 Uninterruptible power supply (BGN 69 thousand)

The disposed non-current fixed assets in the period with carrying value, amounting to BGN 40 thousand 
(2010: BGN 20 thousand) are discarded assets and expenses for asset acquisition, classified in spare 

parts and materials.
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The Entity has no property, plant and equipment pledged as security for its liabilities.

6. Intangible assets

Intangible assets include specialized and standard software. Carrying amounts for the presented reporting periods can 
be analyzed as follows:

Software Expenditures
for software

acquisition

Total

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2011
44,874                                                                                                                                                

                            109 44,983

Additions, bought 871 1,551 2,422

Transfers 130 (130) -

Disposals (360) - (360)

Balance at 31 December 2011 45,515 1,530 47,045

Amortization

Balance at 1 January 2011 (23,828) - (23,828)

Amortization (6,803) - (6,803)

Disposals 360 - 360

Balance at 31 December 2011 30,271 - 30,271

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 15,244 1,530 16,774

Software Expenditures
for software

acquisition

Total

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2010 29,388 12,932 42,320

Additions, bought 65 2,699 2,764

Transfers 15,522 (15,522) -

Disposals (101) - (101)

Balance at 31 December 2010 44,874                                                                                                                                               109 44,983

Amortization



46

ANNUAL ACTIVITY REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2011 

Additions 22 469 - 48 516 1,055

Transfers - 5,336 - 10 (5,346) -

Disposals (7) (1,219) (17) (28) (89) (1,360)

Balance at 31 
December 2010 141,321 188,322 3,212 3,978 1,609 338,442

Depreciation

Balance at 1 
January 2010 (21,707) (106,923) (1,683) (1,939) (154) (132,406)

Disposals 1 1,218 17 26 78 1,340

Depreciation (3475) (14,197) (378) (311) - (18,361)

Balance at 31 
December 2010 (25,181) (119,902) (2,044) (2,224) (76) (149,427)

Carrying 
amount at 31 
December 2010 116,140 68,420 1,168 1,754 1,533 189,015

All depreciation charges are included within ‚Depreciation and amortization of non-financial assets’.

The Entity has а contractual commitment to acquire assets, the deliveries under which are initially recognized as 
expenditures for non-current assets acquisition. Expenses for the acquisition of non-current assets at 31.12. 2011 are at 
the amount of BGN 5,221 thousand and are presented as follows:

•	 Airport Control Tower (ACT) at Sofia Airport (BGN 1,494 thousand)
•	 Upgrade of two MTS radar systems (BGN 1,223 thousand)
•	 Delivery and installation of AFTN (BGN 1,118 thousand)
•	 Delivery of assets (BGN 755 thousand)

The accrued expenditures for fixed tangible assets acquisition are transferred into the respective group of assets, when 
the Entity acquires the rights for use of the asset and it is put into operation. The respective amounts are presented 
within item “Transfers”.

Land – state-owned by the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications, provided for use and 
management to the Entity, which amounts to BGN 1,354 thousand (2010: BGN 5,805 thousand) have been accounted 
on behalf of other reserves.

Newly acquired machines and plants, amounting to BGN 1,354 thousand (2010: BGN 5,805 thousand) are related to the 
following major acquired assets:

•	 Multi-radar information processing system (BGN 334 thousand)
•	 Computers, servers, monitors (BGN 203 thousand)
•	 Cloud meters (BGN 131 thousand)
•	 Emergency power supply for BULATSA property (BGN 98 thousand)
•	 Conditioners (BGN 90 thousand)
•	 Signal generator (BGN 76 thousand)
•	 Uninterruptible power supply (BGN 69 thousand)

The disposed non-current fixed assets in the period with carrying value, amounting to BGN 40 thousand 
(2010: BGN 20 thousand) are discarded assets and expenses for asset acquisition, classified in spare 

parts and materials.
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The Entity has no property, plant and equipment pledged as security for its liabilities.

6. Intangible assets

Intangible assets include specialized and standard software. Carrying amounts for the presented reporting periods can 
be analyzed as follows:

Software Expenditures
for software

acquisition

Total

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2011
44,874                                                                                                                                                

                            109 44,983

Additions, bought 871 1,551 2,422

Transfers 130 (130) -

Disposals (360) - (360)

Balance at 31 December 2011 45,515 1,530 47,045

Amortization

Balance at 1 January 2011 (23,828) - (23,828)

Amortization (6,803) - (6,803)

Disposals 360 - 360

Balance at 31 December 2011 30,271 - 30,271

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 15,244 1,530 16,774

Software Expenditures
for software

acquisition

Total

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2010 29,388 12,932 42,320

Additions, bought 65 2,699 2,764

Transfers 15,522 (15,522) -

Disposals (101) - (101)

Balance at 31 December 2010 44,874                                                                                                                                               109 44,983

Amortization
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Balance at 1 January 2010

(18,267)                                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                         -

(18,267)                                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                         

Amortization (5,662) - (5,662)

Disposals 101 - 101

Balance at 31 December 2010 (23,828) - (23,828)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 21,046 109 21,155

The Entity’s specialized software includes licenses for use of programme products (software) for airspace management 
and the provision of air navigation services. 

The standard software of the Entity represents licenses for use of programme products (software), which the Entity uses 
for its operating and financial activity.

Significant intangible assets acquired during the year are the license to use Microsoft products and the specialized 
software Multi-radar information processing system ARTAS COST. 

In 2011 expenditures for the acquisition of intangible assets have been reported. They related to the modernization of 
the SATCAS system. Those expenditures are at the amount of BGN 1,530 thousand.

All amortization and impairment charges are included within ‘Depreciation and amortization of non-financial assets’.

No intangible assets have been pledged as security for liabilities.

Significant intangible assets are assets from the group of the specialized software as at 31.12. 2011, as follows:

Name Explanation
Carrying value

BGN ‘000

Remaining
useful

life

SW SATCAS- V2- UNIX

Application software 
for the Automated Air 

Traffic Control
System

3,322 1 year

SW SATCAS LINUX 4,056 4 years

SW SATCAS LINUX VARNA TOWER 2,031 4 years

SW SATCAS LINUX BOURGAS TOWER 2,031 4 years

SW SATCAS LINUX Simulator 1,514 4 years

SW SATCAS- V2- UNIX - TDS 495 1 year

SW SATCAS LINUX TDS 611 4 years

SW AWOS AVIMET

Application software 
for meteorological 

observation 192 4 years

As at the date of the financial statements the Entity has a contractual agreement for the delivery of intangible 
assets related to modernization of the SATCAS system. The amount of BGN 4,366 thousand will be paid 

in 2012.
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Balance at 1 January 2010

(18,267)                                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                         -

(18,267)                                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                         

Amortization (5,662) - (5,662)

Disposals 101 - 101

Balance at 31 December 2010 (23,828) - (23,828)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 21,046 109 21,155

The Entity’s specialized software includes licenses for use of programme products (software) for airspace management 
and the provision of air navigation services. 

The standard software of the Entity represents licenses for use of programme products (software), which the Entity uses 
for its operating and financial activity.

Significant intangible assets acquired during the year are the license to use Microsoft products and the specialized 
software Multi-radar information processing system ARTAS COST. 

In 2011 expenditures for the acquisition of intangible assets have been reported. They related to the modernization of 
the SATCAS system. Those expenditures are at the amount of BGN 1,530 thousand.

All amortization and impairment charges are included within ‘Depreciation and amortization of non-financial assets’.

No intangible assets have been pledged as security for liabilities.

Significant intangible assets are assets from the group of the specialized software as at 31.12. 2011, as follows:

Name Explanation
Carrying value

BGN ‘000

Remaining
useful

life

SW SATCAS- V2- UNIX

Application software 
for the Automated Air 

Traffic Control
System

3,322 1 year

SW SATCAS LINUX 4,056 4 years

SW SATCAS LINUX VARNA TOWER 2,031 4 years

SW SATCAS LINUX BOURGAS TOWER 2,031 4 years

SW SATCAS LINUX Simulator 1,514 4 years

SW SATCAS- V2- UNIX - TDS 495 1 year

SW SATCAS LINUX TDS 611 4 years

SW AWOS AVIMET

Application software 
for meteorological 

observation 192 4 years

As at the date of the financial statements the Entity has a contractual agreement for the delivery of intangible 
assets related to modernization of the SATCAS system. The amount of BGN 4,366 thousand will be paid 

in 2012.
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7. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred taxes arising from temporary tax differences can be summarized as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) 1 January 2011 Recognized in 
profit and loss

31 December 2011

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4,867 (393) 4,474

Current assets

Trade and other receivables (282) (46) (328)

Non-current liabilities

Pension and other employee obligations (1,402) 144 (1,258)

Provisions for constructive obligations (3,920) 1,236 (2,684)

Current liabilities

Pension and other employee obligations (1,900) 77 (1,823)

Legal obligation provisions (154) (6) (160)

Provisions for constructive obligations - (1,911) (1,911)

(2,791) (899) (3,690)

Recognized as:

Deferred tax assets (7,658) (8,164)

Deferred tax liabilities 4,867 4,474

Net deferred tax assets (2,791) (3,690)

The deferred tax liabilities for the comparative reporting period can be presented as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) 1 January 2010 Recognized in 
profit and loss

31 December 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5,152 (285) 4,867

Current assets

Trade and other receivables (272) (10) (282)
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Non-current liabilities

Pension and other employee obligations (1,129) (273) (1,402)

Provisions for constructive obligations (2,931) (989) (3,920)

Current liabilities

Pension and other employee obligations (2,321) 421 (1,900)

Legal obligation provisions (154) - (154)

(1,655) (1,136) (2,791)

Recognized as:

Deferred tax assets (6,807) (7,658)

Deferred tax liabilities 5,152 4,867

Net deferred tax assets (1,655) (2,791)

Deferred tax assets, arising as a result of the recognition of provisions for constructive obligations, related to the periods before 
01.01.2010 are at the amount of BGN 2,931 thousand. When the related provisions were recognized during the current reporting 
period, the respective deferred taxes have been reported.

With the recognition in the current reporting period of the related to them provisions, the same deferred taxes were recognized 
directly into equity. 

All deferred tax assets have been recognized in the statement of financial position.

8. Inventories

Inventories recognized in the statement of financial position can be analyzed as follows:

  2011 2010

  BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Materials and consumables 2,297 2,631

Goods 69 90

Inventories 2,366 2,721

In 2011 inventories amounting to BGN 1,706 thousand have been recognized as an expense in profit or loss (2010: 
BGN 1,804 thousand). This amount includes impairment due to the write-off of inventories at the amount of BGN 53 
thousand (2010: BGN 0). Revalued inventories have no carrying value as at the date of the financial statements.
The main part of the inventories consists of spare parts.
None of the inventories are pledged as securities for liabilities.
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9. Trade receivables

  2011 2010

  BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Trade receivables, gross 31,841 27,926

Allowance for credit losses (3,883) (3,432)

Receivables for penalties - 134

Trade receivables 27,958 24,628

All trade receivables are short term. The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation 
of fair value.
All trade receivables of the Entity have been tested for impairment losses. According to the Entity’s accounting policy, 
an estimation of credit losses for doubtful and uncollectible recivables is performed at the end of each reporting 
period. The receivables, which have been past due between 3 months and 6 months are classified as doubtful, and 
those which have been past due over 6 months - as uncollectible ones. The Management of the Entity has adopted 
that doubtful receivables shall be impaired to 50% of their carrying amount, and uncollectible receivables are totally 
impaired. Based on ageing analysis performed, trade receivables with past due over 3 months, have been impaired 
and the respective impairment, amounting to BGN 1,162 thousand (2010: BGN 972 thousand) is recognized in the 
Statement of comprehensive income within “Other expenses”. 

The change in the trade receivables impairment can be presented as follows:

  2011 2010

  BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Balance at 1 January 3,432 3,549

Amounts written-off (uncollectible) (460) (990)

Impairment loss 1,162 972

Impairment loss reversed (251) (99)

Balance at 31 December 3,883 3,432

There are no unimpaired past due trade receivables.

The most significant trade receivables as at 31 December are presented below:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Receivables from EUROCONTROL for en-route air navigation 
services (ANS)

26,133 26,199

Impairment (3,327) (2,848)
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Receivables for ANS charges in the terminal area 1,225 1,078

Impairment (186) (215)

Receivables for penalties - 134

Glavbolgarstroy EAD 2,497 -

SELEX-SI 1,356 -

Other trade receivables 630 650

Impairment (370) (370)

27,958 24,628

The most significant receivables are from EUROCONTROL, which amount to TBGN 26,133 (2010: TBGN 26,199). 
EUROCONTROL is the European organization for the safety of air navigation, to which Bulgaria is a member state 
since 1998. The Organization performs its activities in cooperation with the national civil and military authorities. The 
Organization coordinates the relations between BULATSA and its customers for the provision of en-route ANS.
The receivables from Glavbolgarstroy EAD and SELEX-SIare related to advance payments on contracts as follows: for the 
construction of a facility Airport Control Tower (ACT) at Sofia Airport and for the delivery of specialized equipment and 
software for the automated ATC SATCAS System. 

10. Tax receivables

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

VAT for reimbursement 84 -

Corporate income tax receivables - 584

84 584

11. Other receivables

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Court and awarded receivables 13,855 13,848

Impairment (13,791) (13,791)

Prepaid expenses 3,354 3,041

Interest receivables 2,285 2,118

Interests on deposits and others 159 95

Impairment (65) (65)

Receivables on externally financed projects - 86

Accountable persons receivables 3 13

5,800 5,345
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The changes in the impairment of other receivables can be summarized as follows:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Balance at 1 January 13,856 13,864

Write-off impairment - (8)

Balance at 31 December 13,856 13,856

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Cash at bank and in hand:

- EUR 71,528 44,726

- BGN 1,463 3,159

- GBP 5 6

- USD 11 28

- CHF 7 7

Short-term deposits 46,963 46,971

Cash reserve at the BNB (deposit) 21,514 21,514

Cash and cash equivalents 141,491 116,411

Cash reserve at the BNB (21,514) (21,514)

Cash and cash equivalents presented in Cash Flow 
Statements

99,479
119,977

232,933
94,897

Deposits include BGN 21 514 thousand, which equals EUR 11 million. The deposit in the Bulgarian National Bank was 
made in accordance with Ordinance 140 dated 4 December 2001 issued by the Ministry of Transport, Information 
Technology and Communications and the Ministry of Finance for the establishment of the regime, order and 
conditions for maintenance and expense of the cash reserve of BULATSA. For the purpose of disclosure of the Cash 
flows statement, the deposit has not been included in the amount of cash and cash equivalents. 

Deposits in commercial banks are denominated in EUR within 12 months. The deposits’ annual interest rates vary 
between 5.10% and 5.80%.

The Entity has no restricted cash and cash equivalents.
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13. Equity 

13.1. Registered capital

The registered capital of the Entity amounts to BGN 129,758 thousand and is 100% state-owned by the Ministry of 
Transport, Information Technology and Communications. It represents the amount of the capital of BULATSA as of the 
date of its transformation in compliance with art. 62 of the Commercial Act. 

13.2. Reserves

All amounts are in BGN ‘000 Legal 
reserves

Other
reserves

Total

Balance at 1 January 2009 29,257 289,519 318,776

Distribution of profit for year 2008 4,843 21,667 26,510

Grant acquired assets - 172 172

Single installment to the state budget - (177,819) (177,819)

Balance at 31 December 2009 34,100 133,539 167,639

Changes in estimates of provisions for constructive 
obligations to air carriers - (26,379) (26,379)

Recalculated balance at 31 December 2009 34,100 107,160 141,260

Distribution of profit for year 2009 3,149 596 3,745

Grant acquired assets - 9 9

Balance at 31 December 2010 37,249 107,765 145,014

Distribution of profit for year 2010 464 464 928

Grant acquired assets - 745 745

Grant acquired assets, written-off for the period - (4) (4)

Balance at 31 December 2011 37,713 108,970 146,683

Legal reserves

Legal reserves are formed by conceded income tax, under specific conditions regulated by art.180 of the Corporate 
Income Tax Act (annulled). The Entity has formed a specific reserve equal to the conceded corporate tax until the end of 
2009 amounting to 60% of the liability for corporate income tax.

The total amount of the reserves, accumulated from conceded corporate tax amounted to BGN 22,583 thousand for the 
period 2001 – 2009.  A modification to the CITA effective from 01.01.2010 canceled the provision for the retention of 
60% of the corporate tax of BULATSA.
The legal reserves also include reserves, equal to 10% of the net income for the period  2001 - 2010 in accordance 
with Ordinance 140 dated 04 December 2001, issued by the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and 
Communications and the Ministry of Finance for the maintenance of  the cash reserve of the Entity. The total amount of 
the reserves accumulated by 10% of the net income, comes up to a total of BGN 15,130 thousand for the period 2001 
– 2010.

The increase in the legal reserves in 2011 amounting to BGN 464 thousand is a deduction from of the net income for 
2010 pursuant to Ordinance 140 of 12/04/2001 for the maintenance of the cash reserve. 

The total amount of the legal reserves at 31 December is BGN 37,713 thousand.
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Other reserves

The Entity’s other reserves represent the acquisition of non-current-state owned assets disposed to the Entity by the 
sole owner of the capital as well as accumulated profits after all allocations from previous periods.

With the entry into force of Regulation 691/2010 and Regulation 1191/2010 of the European Commission the regime 
determining the charges for en-route ANS was changed with effect from 1 January 2012. After Regulation (EC) 691/2010 
and Regulation (EC) 1191/2010 came into force, the regime of en-route ANS calculation was changed as well.

The regime of full cost recovery, used until 31 December 2011 was replaced by a regime of determined costs. As a result 
of the changed circumstances as well as taking into consideration the conceptual framework of the applicable IFRS, the 
Entity’s management considers that a change in the accounting estimate relating to periods before 1 January  2010 has 
occurred.

The over-recovery cost provision is estimated at BGN 29,310 thousand and is accounted for in the period of change as 
follows:

•	 Decrease in other reserves by BGN 26,379 thousand, an increase of provisions for constructive obligations by 
BGN 29,310 thousand and the resulting tax effect by BGN 2, 931 thousand.    
 

The increase in other reserves in 2011 in the total amount of BGN 1,205 thousand represents the distribution of the 
remaining profit for 2010 (BGN 464 thousand) and assets – government owned and disposed to the Entity (BGN 745 
thousand). The decreases in other reserves amounting to (BGN 4 thousand) are assets, acquisition of granted assets to 
the Entity, which have been written off from the patrimony of the Entity in compliance with Council of Ministers Decree 
No. 948 dated 28 December 2010.

Dividends

In compliance with Council of Ministers Decree No. 324 dated 29 December 2009 related to the implementation of the 
state budget of the Republic of Bulgaria for 2011 BULATSA set aside 80% of the profit after tax for the year 2010, which 
is paid as a dividend to the State. The dividend paid in 2011 is at the amount of BGN 3, 713 thousand.

14. Employee remuneration

14.1. Employee benefits expense

Expenses recognized for employee benefits include:

  2011 2010

  BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Salaries and remuneration (84,424) (76,906)

Social security costs (6,237) (5,977)

Other social expenses (8,977) (8,712)

Retirement compensations in compliance with the Labor Code and the 
Collective Labor Agreement

(475) (354)

Retirement provisions (2,619) (9,134)

Employee benefits expense (102,732) (101,083)

14.2. Pension and other employee obligations

The liabilities for pension and other employee obligations recognized in the statement of 
financial position consist of the following amounts:
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13. Equity 
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  2011 2010

  BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Non-current:    

Retirement compensations in compliance with the Labor Code and the 
Collective Labor Agreement 12,579 14,025

Non-current pension and other employee obligations 12,579 14,025

Current:

Retirement compensations in compliance with the Labor Code and the 
Collective Labor Agreement 4,647 5,083

Payables to social security institutions 1,846 2,159

Other short-term employee obligations 14,268 13,849

Current pension and other employee obligations 20,761 21,091

The current portion of these liabilities represents the Entity’s obligations to its current and former employees that 
are expected to be settled during 2012. Other short-term employee obligations arise mainly due to accrued holiday 
entitlement at the reporting date and the current remuneration payables.
In accordance with the requirements of the Labour Code and the Collective Labour Agreement when terminating 
employment after the employee has become entitled to retirement pension, the Entity is obliged to pay him/her 
compensation based on his/her gross monthly salary. The provision for compensating the retiring employees of the 
Entity is in accordance with the parameters set out in the Labour Code and the Collective Labour Agreement and is 
calculated for the period from January 2012 till December 2016 (inclusive).
The Entity accrued legal obligations to pay benefits to employees upon retirement in accordance with the requirements 
of IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ on the basis of estimated payments for the next five years, discounted to the present with 
long-term interest rate of risk-free securities.

The changes in the retirement compensations in compliance with the Labor Code and the Collective Labor Agreement 
are summarized as follows:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

     

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 19,108 14,639

Current service costs for the period 584 618

Interest costs 908 695

Expenses for previous experience 1,514 2,750

Benefits paid (5,409) (5,359)

Actuarial losses 521 5,765

Defined benefit obligations at 31 December 17,226 19,108

These assumptions were developed by the Management under consideration of expert advice provided by 
independent actuaries. 

The defined benefit obligations have been calculated using the credit method of estimated units:
the credit method of estimated units presents a liability that will arise in a future moment 

and is based on several assumptions. That is why this method is sensitive towards 
assumptions for the values of the main parameters that define the setting of 
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the liability and the amount of the compensation due. The main assumptions that define the size of the compensation 
are based on the following parameters:
- demographic parameters – they reflect the possibility that people working under a labour contract stay at work until 
they reach retirement age and a compensation liability arises; the people may drop out before they reach retirement 
age for numerous purposes – illness, death and other.
- financial parameters – the expected annual wages growth, the discount percentage used for the calculation of the 
liability is 4.75 % annually for the whole term.

Interest costs have been included in the Statement of comprehensive income within ‘Finance costs’ (see note 24). All 
other expenses summarized above were included within ‘Employee benefits expense’. When assessing the liability, the 
Entity recognizes the actuarial gain or loss as income or expense, even if at the end of the reporting period it is over the 
10% “corridor”, stated in §92 of IAS 19 – Employee benefits.

15. Provisions

The carrying amounts of the provisions can be summarized as follows:

Provision for
constructive obligation to users of en-route 

ANS

BGN ‘000

Carrying amount at 1 January 2009 -

Additional provisions 29,310

Carrying amount 31 December 2009 29,310

Additional provisions 9,888

Carrying amount 31 December 2010 39,198

Additional provisions 6,748

Carrying amount 31 December 2011 45,946

2011 2010 2009

BGN ‘000. BGN ‘000. BGN ‘000.

Non-current

Carrying amount 26,835 39,198 29,310

Current

Carrying amount 19,111 - -

45,946 39,198 29,310

The charge for en-route air-navigation services (ANS) is recognized based on the expenses forecast and the forecast 
for the level of serviced units. By the end of 2011 charges for en-route ANS were determined implementing 
the full cost recovery regime (full cost recovery). Under the full cost recovery regime and the effect of 
the adjustment mechanism, the charges for en-route ANS are refunded to expenses as they 
were actually incurred. As a result, variations between the estimated cost and the actual 
expenses occurred when the financial year ended. These variations are treated as 
“over-recovery of the costs” or “ under-recovery of the costs “ for activities 
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In accordance with the requirements of the Labour Code and the Collective Labour Agreement when terminating 
employment after the employee has become entitled to retirement pension, the Entity is obliged to pay him/her 
compensation based on his/her gross monthly salary. The provision for compensating the retiring employees of the 
Entity is in accordance with the parameters set out in the Labour Code and the Collective Labour Agreement and is 
calculated for the period from January 2012 till December 2016 (inclusive).
The Entity accrued legal obligations to pay benefits to employees upon retirement in accordance with the requirements 
of IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ on the basis of estimated payments for the next five years, discounted to the present with 
long-term interest rate of risk-free securities.

The changes in the retirement compensations in compliance with the Labor Code and the Collective Labor Agreement 
are summarized as follows:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

     

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 19,108 14,639

Current service costs for the period 584 618

Interest costs 908 695

Expenses for previous experience 1,514 2,750

Benefits paid (5,409) (5,359)

Actuarial losses 521 5,765

Defined benefit obligations at 31 December 17,226 19,108

These assumptions were developed by the Management under consideration of expert advice provided by 
independent actuaries. 

The defined benefit obligations have been calculated using the credit method of estimated units:
the credit method of estimated units presents a liability that will arise in a future moment 

and is based on several assumptions. That is why this method is sensitive towards 
assumptions for the values of the main parameters that define the setting of 
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the liability and the amount of the compensation due. The main assumptions that define the size of the compensation 
are based on the following parameters:
- demographic parameters – they reflect the possibility that people working under a labour contract stay at work until 
they reach retirement age and a compensation liability arises; the people may drop out before they reach retirement 
age for numerous purposes – illness, death and other.
- financial parameters – the expected annual wages growth, the discount percentage used for the calculation of the 
liability is 4.75 % annually for the whole term.

Interest costs have been included in the Statement of comprehensive income within ‘Finance costs’ (see note 24). All 
other expenses summarized above were included within ‘Employee benefits expense’. When assessing the liability, the 
Entity recognizes the actuarial gain or loss as income or expense, even if at the end of the reporting period it is over the 
10% “corridor”, stated in §92 of IAS 19 – Employee benefits.

15. Provisions

The carrying amounts of the provisions can be summarized as follows:

Provision for
constructive obligation to users of en-route 

ANS

BGN ‘000

Carrying amount at 1 January 2009 -

Additional provisions 29,310

Carrying amount 31 December 2009 29,310

Additional provisions 9,888

Carrying amount 31 December 2010 39,198

Additional provisions 6,748

Carrying amount 31 December 2011 45,946

2011 2010 2009

BGN ‘000. BGN ‘000. BGN ‘000.

Non-current

Carrying amount 26,835 39,198 29,310

Current

Carrying amount 19,111 - -

45,946 39,198 29,310

The charge for en-route air-navigation services (ANS) is recognized based on the expenses forecast and the forecast 
for the level of serviced units. By the end of 2011 charges for en-route ANS were determined implementing 
the full cost recovery regime (full cost recovery). Under the full cost recovery regime and the effect of 
the adjustment mechanism, the charges for en-route ANS are refunded to expenses as they 
were actually incurred. As a result, variations between the estimated cost and the actual 
expenses occurred when the financial year ended. These variations are treated as 
“over-recovery of the costs” or “ under-recovery of the costs “ for activities 
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related to providing en-route ANS. In case of over-recovery of expenses for a certain period i.e. an overestimation of 
revenues, after two years expenses shall be paid with these funds, adjusting the amount of the incoming cash flow 
(income) in the year “N+2”. Otherwise, if there is “under-recovery of the costs” for the year “N”, the amount of the incoming 
cash flow (income) after two years is increased with the incomplete recovery of the year “N”.

Since the entry into force of Regulation (EC) 691/2010 and Regulation (EC) 1191/2010 regarding charges for en-route 
ANS, the full cost recovery regime has been changed. The latter has been replaced by a regime of determined cost and a 
scheme for risk sharing in relation to planned expenditures and the level of serviced units for each year of the reference 
period, as well as the total amount of planned and actual costs for the entire reference period.
In the full cost recovery regime in relation to en-route air navigation services the unit rate is the final derivative value, 
while with the new mode of determined cost, the unit rate is the target value.

The initial reference period in which this mechanism is in force is 2012 - 2014, while the next reference period will be 
the five years from 2015 onwards.
A scheme for risk sharing is introduced in relation to revenues and expenses for servicing the aircraft, which imposes a 
number of conditions in relation to incurred and reimbursed costs.

In accordance with the principles of EUROCONTROL and the adjustment mechanism, and the application of Regulation 
(EC) 1794/2006 as amended by Regulation (EC) No. 1191/2010 of the European Commission of 16 December 2010 
applicable from 1 January 2012, and Regulation (EC) 691/2010 of 29 July 2010, the Management of the Entity has 
determined that as of the date of the financial statements there is an over-recovery amounting to BGN 48,222 thousand 
with a present value of BGN 45,946 thousand. This variation between planned and actual results is a constructive 
obligation for the Entity to provide services to users of en-route ANS , which should be settled within the next 2 to 5 
years. Insofar as part of a constructive obligation relates to prior periods, the management of the Entity evaluates it as a 
change in the accounting estimate for previous periods.
In order to achieve a true and fair presentation of the financial results of the Entity and provide comparable information, 
as well as pursuant to IAS 8 as regards changes in accounting estimates, the Entity has reported the change in the 
period to which it refers by an increase in provisions for constructive obligations to BGN 29,310 thousand, a decrease 
of other reserves amounting to BGN 26,379 thousand and the resulting tax effect amounting to BGN 2,931 thousand. 
The amount of the recognized provision is the best average assessment of the expenditures, required to cover the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period. During the assessment of the provision, the Entity’s Management 
has taken into account all conditions, which have an impact on the expected obligation:  the obligation for compliance 
with the Principles of EUROCONTROL (including  the adjustment mechanism); the structure and the correlations 
between the accounting expenditure bases from past periods for the provision of air navigation services (ANS), both 
en-route and in terminal areas; corrective amounts such as those related to expenditures for exempted flights, which 
the Entity should finance by itself; one-time events which have had an impact on the formation of the cost base and 
the existing European and national legislation applicable in relation to air navigation services and existing at the date of 
preparation of the current financial statements. As a result the amount of the provision for the constructive obligation 
to the aircraft operators incurred in 2011 is estimated at BGN 6,875 thousand (2010: 10,462 thousand). Because of its 
long-term nature, the provision for the constructive obligation is discounted with the earning capacity rate of free-risk 
securities. This discount factor has been chosen as the Entity is not financed with borrowings and the management 
believes that such a rule approximates closely the applicable cost of capital for the Entity.
The discounted amount of the estimated liability is shown in Other expenses in the statement of comprehensive income 
in the amount of BGN 6,464 thousand (2010: BGN 9,888 thousand).
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16. Trade payables

Trade payables recognized in the statement of financial position include the following most significant positions:

  2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Current:

EUROCONTROL 2,121 1,766

SELEX S.I. 1,071 70

Comsoft 335 -

Helios 234 -

Others 1,259 841

5,020 2,677

All payables are being paid in accordance with the contract requirements.  

17. Tax liabilities

The tax liabilities include:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Personal income tax 1,097 888

Taxes on expenses according to CITA 110 101

VAT - 104

Corporate tax 84 -

1,291 1,093

18. Other liabilities

The Other liabilities of the Entity have a short-term nature and can be summarized as follows:

  2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Court liabilities 1,607 1,536

Warranties 190 378

Employee remuneration  deductions 354 371

Insurance balances 581 354
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Others 142 101

2,874 2,740

19. Sales revenue

The Entity’s sales revenue can be analysed as follows:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

En-route charges 155,417 152,895

ANS charges in the terminal area 10,914 10,569

166,331 163,464

20. Other income

The Entity’s other income includes:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Financing 1,071 204

Consultancy and technical services 172 436

Waste of non-current assets income - 162

Rent from departmental housing 66 74

Aviation English training and testing 20 49

Defaults on contracts 42 9

Others 172 347

1,543 1,281

The financing revenue is related to the DANUBE FAB project, co-financed by the European Commission, according to a 
Decision for financial aid for projects of common interest – “DANUBE FAB Project” – 2008 – EU – 40001 – S in the sphere 
of trans-european network transportation (TEN-T). For 2011, the amount of revenue for financing is estimated to BGN 
1,071 thousand (2010: BGN 204 thousand).

The consultancy and technical activities of the Entity consist of the provision of technical data and development of 
application software, consultations for the preparation of a Manual for Air navigational and Meteorological Services 
and others. The revenues for those services in 2011 are at the amount of BGN 172 thousand (2010: BGN 436 thousand).

Income from the rent of departmental housing at the amount of BGN 66 thousand (2010: BGN 74 thousand) is 
associated with providing Entity-owned apartments to the employees.
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21. Costs of materials 

Costs of materials include:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Electricity  (1,887) (1,843)

Spare parts (625) (685)

Heating (613) (585)

Consumables (321) (311)

Water (183) (133)

Fuel and lubricants (217) (187)

Other materials (176) (243)

Office materials (87) (125)

Uniforms and protection clothes (37) (51)

(4,146) (4,163)

22. Hired services expenses

Hired services expenses include:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

EUROCONTROL membership and administrative charges (7,773) (8,572)

License fees (1,740) (1,236)

Insurance expenses (1,392) (1,348)

Equipment maintenance (1,131) (1,574)

Consulting services and audits (844) (43)

Communication expenses (739) (1,020)

Calibration flights (734) (434)

Complex maintenance of Training, 
Rehabilitation & Recreation facilities (693) (706)

Security (300) (661)

Improvement of qualification (381) (489)

Maintenance of buildings (439) (55)
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Servicing of buildings and surrounding areas (401) (172)

Rent (116) (101)

Advertisement (67) -

Postal and courier services (38) (50)

Transport (50) (44)

Subscriptions for periodical editions (54) (45)

Finance audit (32) (40)

Other expenses (brevets, taxes, measurements and others) (234) (320)

(17,158) (16,910)

Future minimal expenses for the next period of 1 year on rental contracts are at the amount of BGN 116 thousand. 
Payments, recognized as a rent expense for the period are at the amount of BGN 116 thousand (2010: BGN 101 thousand). 
That includes minimal leasing expenses. There have been no sub-leasing or provisional payments or revenues. There 
are no expectations of sub-leasing revenue realization, as all assets used on rental contracts are being used solely by 
the Entity.

Rental expenses are primarily related to the rent of premises, plant and towers, by a contract with “NURTS Bulgaria” AD.

23. Other expenses

The Entity’s other expenses include:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Provision for constructive obligations to air carriers (6,527) (9,888)

Taxes (2,465) (2,653)

Business trips in the country and abroad (2,012) (1,446)

Impairment of receivables (1,162) (972)

Reversal of impairment 252 100

Donations (183) (96)

Others (100) (36)

(12,197) (14,991)
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24. Finance costs and finance income

Finance costs for the presented reporting periods can be analyzed as follows:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Interest expenses on retirement compensations (908) (695)

Interest expenses for constructive obligations to air carriers (284) -

Other financial costs (bank charges) (43) (42)

Gains (losses) from exchange rates changes (56) (180)

Finance costs (1,291) (917)

Finance income may be analyzed as follows for the presented reporting periods:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Interest income on deposits 2,963 2,480

Finance income 2,963 2,480

25. Income tax expense
The relationship between the expected tax expense based on the effective tax rate of 10 % (2010: 10 %) and the reported 
tax expense actually in profit or loss can be reconciled as follows:

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Profit before tax 9,733 5,138

Tax rate 10% 10%

Expected tax expense (973) (514)

Adjustments for non-deductible expenses  4,437 5,405

Adjustments for tax-exempt income: (3,530) (4,286)

Expected tax expense (1,880) (1,633)

 Deferred tax income: 899 1,136
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Origination of temporary differences  2,067 3,000

Reversal of temporary differences  (1,168) (1,864)

Income Tax expense (981) (497)

Note 7 provides information on the deferred tax assets and liabilities.

26. Related party transactions

The Entity’s related parties include transactions with Entities that are more than 50% owned by the Ministry of 
Transport, Information Technology and Communications and with key management personnel.

26.1. Transactions with other related parties under common control

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Purchases of  services

- Flight squad 28 734 434

- Sofia Airport  – construction of runway system – „LOT B2” - 620

Directorate General “Civil Aviation Administration” – air worthiness 
certification charges

1,631 1,323

26.2. Transactions with key management personnel

Key management personnel remuneration is short-term in its nature and for 2011 it amounts to BGN 160 thousand, 
which includes expenses for salaries, social security costs and compensations according to the Labor Code.

27. Related party balances at year end

2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Current

Receivables from:

Sofia Airport 530 428

Total receivables from related parties 530 428

Current

Payables to:

Sofia Airport 2,838 2,774

Flight squad 28 - 57

Directorate General “Civil Aviation Administration” 27 -

Total payables to related parties 2,865 2,831
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The liabilities to Sofia Airport are related to the project “Reconstruction, development and expansion of Sofia Airport 
– “LOT B2” – new runway system and all related activities”, under which BULATSA is financing the work done for the 
meteorological, lighting and navigation equipment at the new runway.

28. Non-cash transactions

During the presented reporting periods, the Entity entered into the following non-cash investing and financing 
activities which are reflected as a part of the corrections in the statement of cash flows at the amount of BGN (283) 
thousand (2010: BGN 736 thousand), relating to accruals of interest on financial assets.

29. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

The Entity’s contingent assets represent bank guarantees for fulfillment of contracts and advance payments, 
amounting to BGN 8,856 thousand, of which BGN 4,311 thousand are from SELEX S.I. and BGN 4,545 thousand are from 
Glavbolgarstroy EAD.

In relation to the constructive obligations, deriving from Bulgaria’s membership to the international organization 
EUROCONTROL and the implementation of the principles and agreements, valid for all member states, BULATSA’s 
management has determined as possible that liabilities to the aircraft operators will occur as a result of over recovery 
of costs, based on factual data for 2011. The indebtment event will occur or not occur in June 2012 when the financial 
statements for the past financial year are presented to EUROCONTROL. As of the date of preparation of the financial 
statements a reliable estimate of provision is made as the calculating processes for the establishment of the cost base 
are expected to be completed by the end of May 2012.

Various  legal claims were brought from and against the Entity during the year. Unless recognized as a provision, the 
Management considers these claims to be insignificant and the probability that they will require settlement at the 
Entity’s expense to be remote. This evaluation is supported by information provided by the Legal Department within 
the Legal, Procurement and Property Management Directorate of the Entity.

30. Financial instrument risk

Risk management objectives and policies 

The main types of financial risks that the Entity could be exposed to are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Entity’s risk management is coordinated by its management bodies. The priority of the risk management is to 
secure the Entity’s financial stability.

30.1. Market risk analysis

The Entity’s activities are carried out under a Currency Board, which fixes the EUR:BGN exchange rate at 1.95583 BGN to 
1 EUR and does not change according to any market conditions or interest rates changes. 

Most of the Entity’s transactions are carried out in Bulgarian leva (BGN) and Euro (EUR). Insignificant exposures to 
currency exchange rates arise from the Entity’s transactions and available funds, denominated in US-Dollars and British 
Pounds. The Entity does not hold any investments or loans denominated in foreign currencies.
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Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into Bulgarian leva at the closing rate are as 
follows:

Short-term exposure

USD
‘000

GBP
‘000

31 December 2011

   Financial assets 11 5

   Financial liabilities (2,526) (8)

Total exposure (2,515) (3)

31 December 2010

   Financial assets 28 6

   Financial liabilities (2,461) -

Total exposure (2,433) 6

30.1.1. Interest rate risk

The Entity is not exposed to interest rate risk because it has no loans and does not use borrowed funds to finance its 
activities.

30.1.2. Other price risk

The charges for air navigation services are collected under conditions and prices set in the Multilateral Agreement 
for Route Charges dated 12 February 1981, the EUROCONTROL International Convention  relating to Co-operation for 
Safety in Air Navigation dated 13 December 1960 with its subsequent amendments and consolidated with the Protocol 
dated 27 June 1997 and other related documents issued by EUROCONTROL, Regulation 1794/2006 and Regulation 
1191/2010 of the European Parliament and Council and the Ordinance stipulating the charges payable for the use of 
public airports and for air navigation services in the Republic of Bulgaria. The price of the service (the unit rate) is cost 
based and by the end of 2011 is determined on an annual basis, aiming full cost recovery. A scheme for risk sharing will 
be applicable in 2012. The Entity has a direct influence on the determined unit rate through the amount of the cost base 
established.
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30.2. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Entity. The Entity is exposed to this 
risk for various financial instruments, for example by receivables from customers and placing deposits. The Entity’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognized at the reporting date, 
as summarized below:

2011 2010

  BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

     

Classes of financial assets – carrying amounts:    

Cash and cash equivalents 141,491 116,411

Trade and other receivables 26,393 26,846

Carrying amount 167,884 143,257

The Entity continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties and incorporates this information into 
its credit risk controls. The Management takes actions to reduce the credit risk through settled rules and procedures 
for collection of due and unpaid charges for the air navigation services provided. The collection rate fоr air navigation 
services is up to 99%.

None of the Entity’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

As at the reporting date there are no unimpaired trade receivables that are past due. 

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents, is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with 
high quality external credit ratings.

Part of the Entity’s cash is deposited in the Bulgarian National Bank under the conditions of a Decree issued by the 
Minister of Transport and Communications and the Minister of Finance.

30.3. Liquidity risk

When assessing and managing the liquidity risk, the Entity monitors the expected cash flows from finance instruments 
such as cash available and trade receivables. The available cash and trade receivables are enough to cover the Entity’s 
cash outflow.

The Civil Aviation Act provides that no enforcement proceedings and no bankruptcy procedures should be held against 
the Entity.

To guarantee the solvency of the Entity, a cash reserve amounting to EUR 11 million has been established under the 
regulations of Ordinance No. 140 of the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications and the 
Ministry of Finance dated  4 December 2001 for regulation of the regime, order and conditions of maintenance of the 
cash reserve of BULATSA.

The cash reserve amounting to EUR 11 million is presented by foreign currency deposit in the Bulgarian National Bank, 
made under the general deposit conditions of the Bank and denominated in EUR.

30.4. Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of assets and liabilities:
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Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into Bulgarian leva at the closing rate are as 
follows:

Short-term exposure

USD
‘000

GBP
‘000

31 December 2011

   Financial assets 11 5

   Financial liabilities (2,526) (8)

Total exposure (2,515) (3)

31 December 2010

   Financial assets 28 6

   Financial liabilities (2,461) -

Total exposure (2,433) 6

30.1.1. Interest rate risk

The Entity is not exposed to interest rate risk because it has no loans and does not use borrowed funds to finance its 
activities.

30.1.2. Other price risk

The charges for air navigation services are collected under conditions and prices set in the Multilateral Agreement 
for Route Charges dated 12 February 1981, the EUROCONTROL International Convention  relating to Co-operation for 
Safety in Air Navigation dated 13 December 1960 with its subsequent amendments and consolidated with the Protocol 
dated 27 June 1997 and other related documents issued by EUROCONTROL, Regulation 1794/2006 and Regulation 
1191/2010 of the European Parliament and Council and the Ordinance stipulating the charges payable for the use of 
public airports and for air navigation services in the Republic of Bulgaria. The price of the service (the unit rate) is cost 
based and by the end of 2011 is determined on an annual basis, aiming full cost recovery. A scheme for risk sharing will 
be applicable in 2012. The Entity has a direct influence on the determined unit rate through the amount of the cost base 
established.
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30.2. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Entity. The Entity is exposed to this 
risk for various financial instruments, for example by receivables from customers and placing deposits. The Entity’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognized at the reporting date, 
as summarized below:

2011 2010

  BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

     

Classes of financial assets – carrying amounts:    

Cash and cash equivalents 141,491 116,411

Trade and other receivables 26,393 26,846

Carrying amount 167,884 143,257

The Entity continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties and incorporates this information into 
its credit risk controls. The Management takes actions to reduce the credit risk through settled rules and procedures 
for collection of due and unpaid charges for the air navigation services provided. The collection rate fоr air navigation 
services is up to 99%.

None of the Entity’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

As at the reporting date there are no unimpaired trade receivables that are past due. 

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents, is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with 
high quality external credit ratings.

Part of the Entity’s cash is deposited in the Bulgarian National Bank under the conditions of a Decree issued by the 
Minister of Transport and Communications and the Minister of Finance.

30.3. Liquidity risk

When assessing and managing the liquidity risk, the Entity monitors the expected cash flows from finance instruments 
such as cash available and trade receivables. The available cash and trade receivables are enough to cover the Entity’s 
cash outflow.

The Civil Aviation Act provides that no enforcement proceedings and no bankruptcy procedures should be held against 
the Entity.

To guarantee the solvency of the Entity, a cash reserve amounting to EUR 11 million has been established under the 
regulations of Ordinance No. 140 of the Ministry of Transport, Information Technology and Communications and the 
Ministry of Finance dated  4 December 2001 for regulation of the regime, order and conditions of maintenance of the 
cash reserve of BULATSA.

The cash reserve amounting to EUR 11 million is presented by foreign currency deposit in the Bulgarian National Bank, 
made under the general deposit conditions of the Bank and denominated in EUR.

30.4. Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of assets and liabilities:
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Financial assets Note 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Loans and receivables:

    Trade and other receivables 26,393 26,846

    Cash and cash equivalents 141,491 116,411

167,884 143,257

Financial liabilities Note 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Current liabilities:

   Trade and other payables 7,894 5,046

7,894 5,046

31. Capital management policies and procedures of BULATSA

The Entity’s main capital management objective is to ensure the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Entity’s policy is to use its own funds for financing or to use grants for specific projects.

32. Post-reporting date events

No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the reporting date and the date of authorization 
by the Management Board for 2011.

The average basic unit rate for en-route air navigation services has been established at EUR 36.56 for 2011 (2011: EUR 
39.77)

 33. Authorization of the financial statements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 (including comparatives) were approved by the Director 
General on 11 March 2012.

The Entity’s audited financial statements have been presented to the Management Board for approval on 26 March 
2012.
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Financial assets Note 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Loans and receivables:

    Trade and other receivables 26,393 26,846

    Cash and cash equivalents 141,491 116,411

167,884 143,257

Financial liabilities Note 2011 2010

BGN ‘000 BGN ‘000

Current liabilities:

   Trade and other payables 7,894 5,046

7,894 5,046

31. Capital management policies and procedures of BULATSA

The Entity’s main capital management objective is to ensure the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Entity’s policy is to use its own funds for financing or to use grants for specific projects.

32. Post-reporting date events

No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the reporting date and the date of authorization 
by the Management Board for 2011.

The average basic unit rate for en-route air navigation services has been established at EUR 36.56 for 2011 (2011: EUR 
39.77)

 33. Authorization of the financial statements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 (including comparatives) were approved by the Director 
General on 11 March 2012.

The Entity’s audited financial statements have been presented to the Management Board for approval on 26 March 
2012.
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